
Vestavia Hills  
City Council Agenda 

May 22, 2017 
6:00 PM 

1. Call to Order  

2. Roll Call 

3. Invocation –  Brian Davis, Public Services Director  

4. Pledge Of Allegiance 

5. Announcements and Guest Recognition 

6. City Manager’s Report 

7. Councilors’ Reports 

8. Proclamation – Public Services Week – May 21-27, 2017 

9. Financial Reports – Melvin Turner III, Finance Director 

10. Approval of Minutes – May 8, 2017 (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business  

11. Ordinance Number 2707 - Conditional Use Approval – 4249 Paxton Place; Conditional 

Use for Home Occupation; Amber Nix, Owner  (public hearing) 

New Business  

12. Ordinance Number 2709 - An Ordinance Authorizing The Issuance And Making 

Provision For The Payment Of $400,000 General Obligation Warrant (Federally 

Taxable) Series 2017-BB&T1 

13. Ordinance Number 2710 – An Ordinance Authorizing The Issuance And Making 

Provision For The Payment Of $9,100,000 General Obligation Warrant (Federally 

Taxable) Series 2017-BB&T2 

New Business (Unanimous Consent Requested) 

14. Ordinance Number 2708 - An Ordinance Declaring Certain Real Property As Surplus; 

Authorizing The City Manager And Mayor To Execute Documents Related To The 

Deeding Of Said Properties And All Other Documents Needed In Order To Secure Said 

Exchange And Access, Maintenance, and Shared Parking Agreement Between The City 

And The Vestavia Hills Board Of Education  (public hearing) 



First Reading (No Action Taken At This Meeting) 

15. Resolution Number 4950 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Allocate 

Funding Within The Gasoline Tax Fund Budget For Fiscal Year 2016-2017 In Order To 

Cover Landfill Fees And Hauling Cost  (public hearing) 
16. Resolution Number 4951 – A Resolution Authorizing The Mayor And City Manager To 

Execute And Deliver A Contract For A Program Manager For The Implementation Of 

The Community Spaces Plan   (public hearing) 
17. Citizen Comments  

18. Executive Session 

19. Motion For Adjournment 



City Council Minutes 
May 8, 2017 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

MAY 8, 2017 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 6:00 PM.  
The Mayor Pro-Tem called the meeting to order and the City Clerk called the roll with 
the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem  
      Kimberly Cook, Councilor 
      Paul Head, Councilor 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry 
      George Pierce, Councilor 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager 
      Patrick Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Jason Hardin, Police Captain 
      Kevin York, Police Captain 
      Marvin Green, Deputy Fire Chief 
      Terry Ray, Deputy Fire Chief 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Asst. Treasurer 
      Brian Davis, Public Services Director 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
      Lori Beth Kearley, Assistant City Engineer 
 
 
 Invocation was given by Mark Hogewood, President, Vestavia Hills Board of 
Education, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION  
 

• Mr. Weaver welcomed the following guests to the meeting: 
o David Barber, former Jefferson County District Attorney 
o Steve Gaydosh, retired Vestavia Hills Wrestling Coach 
o Tommy Dazzio, immediate past President of the Vestavia Hills Parks and 

Recreation Board 
 



City Council Minutes 
May 8, 2017 

Page 2 
 

 
CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

 
• Mr. Downes asked Chief Dan Rary to update the Council relative to crime within 

the City. 
o Chief Rary stated that last Saturday, his department received multiple 

reports to be on the lookout for a certain vehicle that had criminal activity 
in neighboring cities.  He stated that the vehicle was spotted in the City.  
The perpetrator made an endeavor to elude police and crashed into a ditch.  
The perpetrator was then apprehended.   

o Chief Rary stated that this last weekend, there were a number of vehicle 
break-ins in Liberty Park.  He explained that this is an individual beat 
which is manned by at least one officer at all times.  He indicated that 
there were a total of eight vehicle break-ins reported over the weekend.  
All eight of these vehicles were unlocked; no force was used on any of the 
vehicles.  He stated that cash, guns, and other items were stolen.  The only 
video found shows an individual trying a car door and found it locked.  
The individual then tried the next vehicle.  Chief Rary asked everyone to 
lock their vehicles at all times.  He advised car owners to remove 
valuables from the vehicle or hide them out of plain sight to prevent 
enticing thieves. 

• Mr. Downes stated that the Council recently approved an APPLE grant to study 
Crosshaven Drive.  Today, the engineering firm began the study, with an expected 
completion in three months. 

• Mr. Downes stated that Ms. Starr Burbic retired about a week ago.  Ms. Joanie 
Alfano has been selected as Ms. Burbic’s replacement and will assume her 
position around June 12. 

 
 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 
 

• Mrs. Cook welcomed Mark Hogewood, President of the Board of Education, to 
the meeting.  She stated that Mark’s last meeting as a board member will be this 
month.  She thanked him for his service and remarked our schools have benefited 
greatly from his dedication to the task. 

• Mr. Weaver announced that the Planning and Zoning Commission will meet 
Thursday, May 18, 2017, at 6 PM. 

 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 
 Mr. Weaver presented a proclamation designating May 17, 2017, as World 
Neurofibromatosis (NFM) Awareness Day.  Mr. Downes read the proclamation aloud 
and the City Council presented it to members of the Children’s Tumor Foundation. 
 



City Council Minutes 
May 8, 2017 

Page 3 
 

 Phillip Moss, 8th grade student at Vestavia Hills Elementary Central, described his 
story to the audience.  He described his treatments and clinical trial lab visits.  While 
there is no cure, the trials have been working to help reduce his tumors.  He thanked 
everyone, especially his teachers and community, for raising awareness and funds for 
research. 
 
 Tommy Henry, 5th grade student at Vestavia Hills Elementary Central, was 
diagnosed with NFM when he was 5 years old.  He described his experiences with the 
disease and echoed that his teachers and community are all supportive of his condition. 
 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 
 Mr. Weaver presented a proclamation designating May 13, 2017, as Steve 
Gaydosh Day.  Mr. Downes read the proclamation aloud and Mr. Weaver presented it to 
Coach Gaydosh.  Mr. Weaver stated that Coach Gaydosh is being inducted into the 
Alabama Chapter of the National Wrestling Hall of Fame.  
 
 

PRESENTATION 
 
 Mike McGreevey spoke to the Council about National Senior Games scheduled 
for June 2-15, 2017, in the Greater Birmingham area.  The event will bring over 10,000 
people to the Birmingham area over a two-week period.  He described the events and 
asked for support of the City to make this event a success.  He thanked Parks and 
Recreation Superintendent Jason Burnett as well as Asst. Fire Chief Marvin Green for 
their support of the event. 
 
 

PRESENTATION 
 
 David Barber thanked the Mayor and City Council for past and continued support 
of the Prescott House.  He explained that, 30 years ago, sexual abuse of children wasn’t 
spoken about in general conversation.  There were no provisions for assisting children as 
they navigated the system of justice. Prescott House Children`s Advocacy Center 
provides counseling services to child victims of physical and sexual abuse, severely 
neglected children and children who have witnessed a violent crime. 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

The minutes of the April 17, 2017 (Special Work Session), April 17, 2017 
(Regular Work Session), April 21, 2017 (Special Work Session) and April 24, 2017 
(Regular Meeting) were presented for approval. 
 



City Council Minutes 
May 8, 2017 

Page 4 
 

MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of April 17, 2017 
(Special Work Session), April 17, 2017 (Regular Work Session), April 21, 
2017 (Special Work Session), and April 24, 2017 (Regular Meeting) and 
approve them as presented was by Mrs. Cook and second by Mr. Head.  
Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Weaver – yes   Motion carried. 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4949 
 
Resolution Number 4949 – A Resolution Authorizing The Settlement Of The Safe 

Routes To Schools Sidewalk Litigation  
 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4949 was made by Mrs. Cook and 

second was by Mr. Head.  
 
 Bent Owens, attorney representing the City in the litigation, gave a brief 
background of the case and recommended that the City approve a settlement of $40,000.  
The project centered on construction of a sidewalk system by R.E. Grills and the City has 
benefited from the use of said sidewalks.  The State of Alabama conducted the bidding 
process, but the State has immunity from a suit such as this.  He explained that the 
original claim was over $300,000. 
 
 Mrs. Cook stated that this was discussed extensively in Executive Session and she 
concurs with Mr. Owen’s recommendation that the settlement is the best course of action. 
 
 There being no one to address the Council, Mr. Weaver closed the public hearing 
and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Weaver – yes   Motion carried. 
 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 Mr. Weaver stated that the following resolutions and/or ordinances will be 
presented at a public hearing at the Council’s next regular meeting on May 22, 2017, at 
6:00 PM. 

• Ordinance Number 2707 - Conditional Use Approval – 4249 Paxton Place; 
Conditional Use for Home Occupation; Amber Nix, Owner 



City Council Minutes 
May 8, 2017 

Page 5 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
 Wayne Alford, 2633 Southview Place, asked about debris pickup around the City.  
He stated that service has changed over the last two or three years.  He has debris in front 
of his yard and it is now almost blocking his mailbox because his street frontage is 
narrow. 
 
 Mr. Weaver stated that issue has been addressed extensively over the past few 
Council meetings.  He explained that the contractor appeared at the last meeting to 
address the issues. 
 
 Mr. Downes explained that the City has recently experienced a 50% increase of 
trash and debris around the City.  The company responsible for picking it up has not been 
able to pick it up in a timely manner, but has been working with the City on a daily basis 
to get it picked up on an expedited schedule.  Currently, they are working six days a 
week, running an average of five boom trucks per day. They are making progress, but 
they are not finished at this time. 
 
 Mr. Alford asked for special attention because the debris is so brittle, it has 
become a fire hazard. Mr. Alford gave his information to Mr. Davis and Mr. Downes 
asked that Mr. Davis attend to the request. 
 
 David Harwell, 1803 Catala Road, asked about an update on the street lighting 
along Montgomery Highway. 
 
 Mr. Downes updated everyone on the “blackout” of a section of street lighting.  
He stated that the repairman was unable to determine the problem, so it has not been 
repaired.  The City has asked the contractor to meet on Thursday to determine if he has 
found the problem, and to let the City know when the repairs will be made.  He is hopeful 
that the upgrade to the LED lighting, delayed because of bonding requirements in the bid, 
will be completed with the repairs. 
 
 At 6:45 PM, Mr. Head made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Mrs. Cook.  The 
meeting adjourned at 6:46 PM. 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Ordinance Number 2707 

Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2707 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CONDITIONAL USE APPROVAL 

FOR A HOME OCCUPATION  

 

 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2010, the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2331, also known as the City 

of Vestavia Hills Zoning Code; and 

 WHEREAS, on February 19, 2001 the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills 

adopted and approved Ordinance Number 1864 to rezone 3,350 +/- acres from multiple 

Jefferson County and Vestavia Hills zoning classifications to Vestavia Hills P.U.D.; and 

 WHEREAS, Section 709.5.A.1.b of Ordinance Number 1838 classifies a “home 

occupation” permitted only as a “Conditional Use” and 

 WHEREAS, Amber Nix is the owner of the property located at 4249 Paxton 

Place, currently zoned Vestavia Hills PUD PR-1 (planned unit development planned 

residential district) more particularly described as Lot 445, Paxton Place, Sector One; and 

 WHEREAS, Amber Nix has submitted application for Conditional Use Approval 

for a home occupation to be operated in her residence located at 4249 Paxton Place, 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama located in the Liberty Park P.U.D.; and 

 WHEREAS, Amber Nix has indicated in her application for Conditional Use 

Approval that she will operate an office for her sign greeting business out of her home 

pursuant to the specifications of a home occupation; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of said application dated March 8, 2017 is marked as Exhibit 

A, attached and hereby incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2707. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Conditional Use Approval is hereby approved for Amber Nix for a home 

occupation as described in the above-referenced application for her residence 

located at 4249 Paxton Place, Vestavia Hills, Alabama located in Liberty Park 

P.U.D. subject to the provisions outlined in Article 9 of the Vestavia Hills 

Zoning Code outlined as follows: 

a. “Home occupation is defined as any use customarily conducted entirely 

within a dwelling and carried on solely by the inhabitant thereof, and 



Ordinance Number 2707 

Page 2 

 

which use is clearly incidental, accessory, subordinate and secondary to 

the use of the dwelling for dwelling purposes, and does not change the 

character of the dwelling itself or any part of parcel of property in the 

neighborhood surrounding said dwelling; and 

b. Home occupations shall be conducted only in the main dwelling building 

on the lot.  No more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the said dwelling 

may be used for a home occupation; and 

c. There shall be no public display of goods and absolutely no commodities 

sold on the premises; and 

d. No sign may be attached to the dwelling or any part of the real estate 

advertising any home occupation; and 

e. No home occupation or profession shall be permitted if such occupation 

creates noise, odors, vibrations or traffic which interferes with the 

residential qualities of the neighborhood insofar as health, safety, morals, 

convenience and general welfare are concerned; and 

f. In order to be a permitted home occupation or profession, the use must be 

one which is habitually, customarily and commonly established as a 

reasonable incidental, accessory, subordinate and secondary use; and 

g. Operation of any and all other business of any nature in residential zones 

is expressly prohibited; and 

h. The activity carried on as home occupation shall be limited to the hours 

between 7:00 AM and 10:00 PM; and 

i. No home occupation shall be permitted that requires the operation or 

keeping on premises a commercial vehicle and no additional traffic shall 

be generated by said conditional use; and 

j. No persons other than members of the family residing on the premises 

shall be employed by the home occupation; and 

2. Conditional Use Approval is further conditioned upon and subject to all 

applicable private and restrictive covenants attached to the said property 

located in the Liberty Park P.U.D. 



Ordinance Number 2707 

Page 3 

 

3. A City of Vestavia Hills Business License shall be issued upon application 

and payment by Amber Nix working subject to the rules and regulations 

outlined in the Vestavia Hills Business License Code and shall be renewed 

each year that the home occupation is operated from the said property located 

in the Liberty Park P.U.D. 

4. At any time should Amber Nix vacate the premises located at 4249 Paxton 

Place, Vestavia Hills, Alabama, discontinue or relocate this business, this 

Conditional Use Approval shall be nullified and said Ordinance Number 2707 

shall be automatically repealed. 

5. This Ordinance Number 2707 shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption, approval and publishing/posting pursuant to Alabama law. 

 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22
nd

 day of May, 

2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2707 

Page 4 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATION: 
 

 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2707 is a true and 

correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills on the 22
nd

 day of May, 2017 as same appears in the official records of 

said City. 

 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Library in the Forest, 

Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 

______ day of ______________, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Rebecca Leavings 

      City Clerk 

 



CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING 

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

Date:     APRIL 13, 2017 
 

• CASE:  P-0417-15 
 

• REQUESTED ACTION:   Conditional Use Approval for a home based business  
 

•    ADDRESS/LOCATION:  4249 Paxton Pl. 
 
• APPLICANT/OWNER:  Sign Gypsies Over the Mountain, LLC 

 
• GENERAL DISCUSSION:  The applicant wishes to conduct a home based business in 

Liberty Park. As required by the Liberty Park PUD a conditional use permit is required 
for a home based business. A description of the applicants business, as well as an 
approval letter from Liberty Park is attached. The property is zoned PR-1. 

 
• LIBERTY PARK MASTER PLAN:  This request is consistent with the procedures of 

the Liberty Park PUD. 
 

• STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 
 

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / subdivision 
requirements related to this proposal, including application, notification, 
setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent to property 
owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and find it does 
meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.    

 
City Planner Recommendation:  I recommend the Commission recommend 
approval with the following conditions:  
1. Home occupations shall be conducted only in the principal dwelling. No more 
than twenty-five (25) percent, up to 500 sq. ft., of the dwelling may be used for a 
home occupation. 
2. There shall be no outdoor display or storage associated with the home 
occupation and no commodities shall be sold on the premises other than by 
phone, mail or internet. No goods shall be delivered to a purchaser on the 
premises. 
3. No sign may be attached to the dwelling or any part of the real estate 
advertising any home occupation. 
4. No home occupation shall be permitted if it creates noise, odors, vibrations or 
traffic congestion, which interferes with the residential qualities of the 
neighborhood insofar as health, safety, morals, convenience and general welfare 
are concerned. 
5. In order to be a permitted home occupation, the use must be one which is 
habitually, customarily, and commonly established as a reasonable incidental, 



accessory, subordinate and secondary use. The existing dwelling shall not be 
enlarged to accommodate the home occupation; nor shall any accessory 
structure be built for the purpose of operating the home occupation. 
6. No home occupation shall be permitted that requires the operation or keeping 
on premises of a commercial vehicle. 
7. No persons other than members of the family residing on the premises shall 
be employed by the home occupation. 
8. Home occupations shall be limited to the hours between 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 
p.m. 
 

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

 
3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 

issues with this request 
 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

 
MOTION Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend approval of Conditional Use 
Approval for a home based business at 4249 Paxton Pl. with the following conditions: 

1. Home occupations shall be conducted only in the principal dwelling. No 
more than twenty-five (25) percent, up to 500 sq. ft., of the dwelling may be 
used for a home occupation. 
2. There shall be no outdoor display or storage associated with the home 
occupation and no commodities shall be sold on the premises other than by 
phone, mail or internet. No goods shall be delivered to a purchaser on the 
premises. 
3. No sign may be attached to the dwelling or any part of the real estate 
advertising any home occupation. 
4. No home occupation shall be permitted if it creates noise, odors, vibrations 
or traffic congestion, which interferes with the residential qualities of the 
neighborhood insofar as health, safety, morals, convenience and general 
welfare are concerned. 
5. In order to be a permitted home occupation, the use must be one which is 
habitually, customarily, and commonly established as a reasonable incidental, 
accessory, subordinate and secondary use. The existing dwelling shall not be 
enlarged to accommodate the home occupation; nor shall any accessory 
structure be built for the purpose of operating the home occupation. 
6. No home occupation shall be permitted that requires the operation or 
keeping on premises of a commercial vehicle. 
7. No persons other than members of the family residing on the premises shall 
be employed by the home occupation. 



 3 

8. Home occupations shall be limited to the hours between 7:00 a.m. 
and 10:00 p.m. 

 

Second was by Mr. Brooks. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows: 

Mr. Goodwin – yes   Mr. Burrell – yes            
Mr. Gilchrist – yes    Mr. Brooks – yes 
Mrs. Cobb – yes    Mr. Wolfe – yes    
Motion carried 

 
 
 













Rezoning/Conditional Use Recommendations: 
 
 
 
(4) P-0417-15 Sign Gypsies Over the Mountain, LLC Is Requesting Conditional Use 

Approval For A Home Occupation Located At 4249 Paxton Pl. The 
Property Is Owned By Sign Gypsies Over the Mountain And Is Zoned 
Vestavia Hills PR-1. 

  
Mr. Garrison explained the background and location of the request and went over the conditions 

staff recommended for approval. 
 
Amber Nix stated her business sets up signs on home owners lawns for birthday’s, celebration’s, 

etc. 
 
Mr. Wolfe opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address the Commission 
concerning this requests, Mr. Wolfe closed the public hearing and opened the floor for motions. 
 
MOTION Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend approval of Conditional Use 
Approval for a home based business at 4249 Paxton Pl. with the following conditions: 

1. Home occupations shall be conducted only in the principal dwelling. No 
more than twenty-five (25) percent, up to 500 sq. ft., of the dwelling may be 
used for a home occupation. 
2. There shall be no outdoor display or storage associated with the home 
occupation and no commodities shall be sold on the premises other than by 
phone, mail or internet. No goods shall be delivered to a purchaser on the 
premises. 
3. No sign may be attached to the dwelling or any part of the real estate 
advertising any home occupation. 
4. No home occupation shall be permitted if it creates noise, odors, vibrations 
or traffic congestion, which interferes with the residential qualities of the 
neighborhood insofar as health, safety, morals, convenience and general 
welfare are concerned. 
5. In order to be a permitted home occupation, the use must be one which is 
habitually, customarily, and commonly established as a reasonable incidental, 
accessory, subordinate and secondary use. The existing dwelling shall not be 
enlarged to accommodate the home occupation; nor shall any accessory 
structure be built for the purpose of operating the home occupation. 
6. No home occupation shall be permitted that requires the operation or 
keeping on premises of a commercial vehicle. 
7. No persons other than members of the family residing on the premises shall 
be employed by the home occupation. 



8. Home occupations shall be limited to the hours between 7:00 a.m. and 
10:00 p.m. 

 

Second was by Mr. Brooks. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows: 

Mr. Goodwin – yes   Mr. Burrell – yes            
Mr. Gilchrist – yes    Mr. Brooks – yes 
Mrs. Cobb – yes    Mr. Wolfe – yes    
Motion carried 

 
 
 
 
Conrad Garrison, City Planner



 

04001531.3 

EXCERPTS FROM THE MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

         

Ordinance Authorizing the Issuance of  

$400,000 

General Obligation Warrant 

Series 2017-BB&T1 

         

 

The City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills met in regular public session at the City Hall in the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, at 6:00 p.m. on May 22, 2017.  The meeting was called to order by the 

Mayor, and the roll was called with the following results: 

 

Present: Ashley C. Curry, Mayor 

 Kimberly Cook 

 Paul J. Head 

 George Pierce 

 Rusty Weaver 

 

 Absent:  _________________ 

 

*     *     * 

 

The Mayor stated that a quorum was present and that the meeting was open for the transaction of 

business. 

 

*     *     * 

 

Thereupon, the following ordinance was introduced in writing by the Mayor and considered by the 

City Council: 

 



 

04001531.3 

        

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2709 

        

 

 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

 

 

 

 

For 

 

 

 

 

 

$400,000 

GENERAL OBLIGATION WARRANT  

SERIES 2017-BB&T1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted: May 22, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

              

 



 

04001531.3 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2709 

 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND MAKING PROVISION  

FOR THE PAYMENT OF $400,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION WARRANT 

SERIES 2017-BB&T1 

             

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 

ALABAMA, as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1 

 

Rules of Construction and Definitions of Terms 

 

Section 1.01  Rules of Construction 

 

 For all purposes of this Ordinance, except as otherwise expressly provided or unless the context 

otherwise requires: 

 

 (a) The terms defined in this Article have the meanings assigned to them in this Article and 

include the plural as well as the singular. 

 

 (b) All references in this Ordinance to designated “Articles”, “Sections” and other subdivisions are 

to the designated Articles, Sections and subdivisions of this Ordinance as originally adopted. 

 

 (c) The terms “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this 

Ordinance as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other subdivision. 

 

Section 1.02  Definitions of Terms 

 

The following words and phrases and others evidently intended as the equivalent thereof shall, in 

the absence of clear implication herein otherwise, be given the following respective interpretations herein: 

 Authorized Denominations means an amount equal to the principal amount of the Warrant at any 

time outstanding. 

 

 Business Day means a day, other than a Saturday or a Sunday, on which commercial banking 

institutions are open for business in the State. 

 

City means the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama and its successors and assigns. 

 Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and all references to specific sections of 

the Code shall be deemed to include any and all respective successor provisions to such sections. 

 

 Enabling Law means Section 11-47-2 of the Code of Alabama 1975, as amended. 



 

04001531.3 

Federal Securities means direct general obligations of the United States of America or any 

securities on which the payment of the principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the United 

States of America. 

Fiscal Year means the period beginning on October 1 of one calendar year and ending on 

September 30 of the next succeeding calendar year or such other Fiscal Year as may hereafter be adopted by 

the City. 

 Holder when used with respect to any Warrant means the Person in whose name such Warrant is 

registered in the Warrant Register. 

 

 Net Warrant Proceeds means the net proceeds received from the sale of the Warrant. 

 

 Ordinance means this Ordinance as originally adopted or as it may from time to time be 

supplemented, modified or amended. 

 

Person means and includes any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint 

venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization and any government or agency or political subdivision 

thereof. 

 

 Qualified Investments means: 

 

 (a) Federal Securities or a trust or fund consisting of Federal Securities; 

 

 (b) Obligations of any of the following federal agencies, which obligations represent the full 

faith and credit of the United States of America: 

 

(1) Farmers Home Administration; 

(2) General Services Administration; 

(3) U.S. Maritime Administration; 

(4) Small Business Administration; 

(5) Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA); 

(6) U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD); 

(7) Federal Housing Administration (FHA); 

 

 (c) U.S. dollar denominated deposit accounts and certificates of deposit with banks or savings 

associations which are qualified public depositories under the laws of the State of Alabama; or 

 

 (d) any investment, obligation, or security at any time permitted by the laws of the State of 

Alabama for the investment or security of municipal or public funds, including without limitation Section 11-81-

21 of the Code of Alabama 1975. 

 

Series 2017 Capital Improvements means the real property and improvements to be acquired 

by the Net Warrant Proceeds for a public park. 

State shall mean the State of Alabama. 



 

04001531.3 

Tax Certificate and Agreement shall mean that certain Tax Certificate and Agreement by the 

City delivered in connection with the Warrant. 

Warrant means the General Obligation Warrant, Series 2017-BB&T1, dated the date of delivery, 

authorized to be issued pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance. 

Warrant Fund means the fund established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof. 

Warrant Register shall have the meaning assigned in Section 4.01. 

 

 

ARTICLE 2 

 

 Source of Payment of Warrant 

 

Section 2.01 Source of Payment of Warrant 

 

(a) The indebtedness evidenced and ordered paid by the Warrant shall be a general obligation 

of the City and shall be secured by an irrevocable and sacred pledge of the full faith, credit and taxing power 

of the City. 

 

(b) The Warrant is solely an obligation of the City and shall never constitute an indebtedness, 

pecuniary liability, or charge against the general credit or taxing power of the State of Alabama or any 

other political subdivision therein or thereof. 

 

Section 2.02 Officers and Members of the Governing Body of the City Exempt from 

Individual Liability 

 

By acceptance of the Warrant, the Holder thereof shall have agreed that no recourse under or upon 

any covenant or agreement of this Ordinance or of the Warrant, or for any claim based thereon or otherwise 

in respect thereof, shall be had against any past, present or future officer, employee, or member of the 

governing body of the City, or of any successor of any thereof, and all such liability of every name and 

nature, either at common law or in equity or by constitution or statute, and any and all such rights and 

claims against every such officer, employee, or member of the governing body of the City as such, are hereby 

expressly waived and released as a condition of, and as a consideration for, the issuance of the Warrant. 

 

 



 

04001531.3 

ARTICLE 3 

 

The Warrant 

 

Section 3.01 Determinations and Representations Respecting the Warrant 

The City, upon evidence duly presented to and considered by it, does hereby find, determine and 

represent as follows: 

 

(a) It is necessary and desirable and in the public interest for the City to issue the Warrant to 

provide for the following purposes: 

 

(1) to provide for payment of the costs of the Series 2017 Capital Improvements; and 

 

(2) to pay issuance expenses of the Warrant. 

 

(b) The City is not in default with respect to any long-term indebtedness of the City, and no 

such default is imminent. 

 

(c) The City has the power and authority under the Enabling Law to authorize and issue the 

Warrant for the purposes provided herein. 

 

(d) The assessed valuation of the taxable property in the City for the preceding fiscal year 

(ending September 30, 2016) is not less than $700,120,010, and the total indebtedness of the City 

chargeable against the debt limitation for the City prescribed by the Constitution of Alabama of 1901 is not 

more than twenty percent of said assessed valuation. 

 

Section 3.02 Authorization and Description of Warrant 

(a) Pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State of Alabama, including particularly the 

Enabling Law, there is hereby authorized to be issued a series of warrants, as a single certificated warrant, 

in the principal amount of $400,000, for the purposes set forth in Section 3.01(a). 

 

(b) The Warrant shall be designated “General Obligation Warrant, Series 2017-BB&T1,” shall 

be in fully registered form, without coupons, shall be in Authorized Denominations and shall be dated the 

date of delivery. 

(c) (1) Interest on the Warrant shall be determined on the basis of a 360-day year of 12 

months of 30 days each. 

 (2) The Warrant shall bear interest at the per annum rate set forth therein. 

 

 (d) The Warrant shall be payable as to principal and interest as provided therein. 

(e) The principal of, premium (if any) and interest on the Warrant shall be payable in lawful 

money of the United States of America, without deduction for exchange, fees or expenses, as provided in this 

Ordinance and as set forth in the Warrant. 



 

04001531.3 

(f) The Warrant is subject to redemption prior to maturity upon the circumstances, in the 

manner, on the dates, in the amounts and order, at the redemption prices and upon the notice as provided 

in the Warrant. 

(g) The form of the Warrant and the assignments appertaining thereto shall be substantially 

as follows, with appropriate changes, variations and insertions as provided herein: 



 

04001531.3 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

This Warrant has not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or under any state 

securities law, in reliance upon applicable exemptions.  This Warrant, or any interest herein, may only be 

transferred in compliance with federal and state securities laws and as provided in the Ordinance under 

which this Warrant is issued as referenced herein. 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

This Warrant is payable only to, and is transferable only by, the registered owner set forth in the Warrant 

Register.  All payments of principal of and interest on this Warrant shall forever discharge all obligations of 

the City therefor.  Each transferee of this Warrant takes it subject to all payments theretofore made hereon 

and all rights and defenses of the City at law or in equity. 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF ALABAMA 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

GENERAL OBLIGATION WARRANT 

SERIES 2017-BB&T1 

No. R-1 

 DATED DATE: INTEREST RATE: MATURITY DATE: 

 May __, 2017 Applicable Rate as 

determined herein 

May __, 2021 

The CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, a municipal corporation organized and existing under and by 

virtue of the laws of the State of Alabama (the “City”), for value received, hereby acknowledges itself 

indebted to  

BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY 

or registered assigns (collectively, the “Holder”) in the principal amount of 

FOUR HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($400,000) 

and hereby orders and directs the Finance Director (or any successor to the duties and functions thereof) of 

the City to pay to said payee or registered assigns, solely from the Warrant Fund hereinafter designated, 

said principal amount, and to pay, solely from said Warrant Fund, interest on the unpaid principal balance 

of said principal amount until payment in full, at the Interest Rate per annum specified above, in 

installments as follows: 



 

04001531.3 

(a) On May __, 2018, and on each May __ thereafter, until and including April 28, 

2020, an amount equal to the principal amount of this Warrant becoming due and payable on each 

such date, as set forth below, plus interest accrued thereon to each such date of payment: 

Date Principal Amount 

  

05/__/2018 $47,330.00 

05/__/2019 48,267.13 

05/__/2020 49,222.82 

 

(b) On the Maturity Date specified above, an amount equal to the principal amount of 

this Warrant then outstanding plus interest accrued thereon to (but not including) such date of 

payment. 

Authority for Issuance; Source of Payment and Security; Reference to Ordinance 

 

This Warrant (the “Warrant”), is issued pursuant to the authority of the Constitution and laws of 

the state of Alabama and an ordinance and proceedings of the City duly held, passed and conducted (the 

“Ordinance”). 

 

Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the respective meanings assigned 

thereto in the Ordinance. 

 

The indebtedness evidenced and ordered paid by the Warrant shall be a general obligation of the 

City and shall be secured by an irrevocable and sacred pledge of the full faith, credit and taxing power of the 

City. 

 

The Warrant is solely an obligation of the City and shall never constitute an indebtedness, 

pecuniary liability, or charge against the general credit or taxing power of the State of Alabama or any 

other political subdivision therein or thereof. 

 

Reference is hereby made to the Ordinance for a description of the nature and extent of the security 

afforded by the Ordinance, the rights and duties of the City with respect thereto, and the terms and 

conditions upon which the purchase, transfer and exchange of the Warrant is to be made, to and by all of 

which terms, conditions and provisions of the Ordinance the owner of this Warrant, by the acquisition 

hereof, hereby assents and agrees to be bound. 

 

Definition of Interest Rate Terms 

 

 Interest shall accrue on the outstanding principal amount of this Warrant at the Applicable Rate on 

the basis of a 360-day year of 12 months of 30 days each. 

 

 During any period in which the Applicable Rate is the Taxable Rate, the Lender shall determine the 

Applicable Rate on each day on which any change in such rate becomes effective, as provided therefor. 

 

 For purposes hereof, the following terms have the following meanings: 

 



 

04001531.3 

Applicable Rate shall mean: 

(a) the Tax-Exempt Rate for the period beginning on the date of delivery of this Warrant and 

ending on the date immediately preceding the Taxability Date; and 

(b) the Taxable Rate for the period beginning on the Taxability Date and continuing thereafter. 

Taxability Date shall mean the earliest date from which interest paid in respect of this Warrant is 

determined to be Taxable. 

Taxable shall mean that interest on this Warrant is includable in the gross income of the Holder in the 

computation of federal income tax liability or that the Warrant is not a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” within 

the meaning of Section 265(b) of the Code; provided, however, interest on the Warrant shall not be deemed 

“Taxable” because interest is includable in any calculation of income for purposes of an alternative minimum 

tax or any other type of taxation other than the regular federal tax imposed on income. 

 

Taxable Rate shall mean an interest rate per annum (fixed, or variable subject to periodic adjustment) 

that would provide the Holder an after-tax yield on the then outstanding principal amount of this Warrant at 

least equal to the after-tax yield the Holder would have received if interest on this Warrant had not been 

determined to be Taxable. 

 

Tax-Exempt Rate shall mean a per annum fixed rate of interest equal to one and ninety-eight one-

hundredths of one percent (1.98%). 

 

Payment; Warrant Fund 

 

 The principal of and interest on the Warrant shall be paid by the City to the Holder as provided in the 

Ordinance. 

 

The City has established in the Ordinance a special fund designated “Warrant Fund” for the 

payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrant and has obligated itself to pay or cause to be paid 

into the Warrant Fund, from the revenues or funds of the City, sums sufficient to provide for the payment of 

the principal of and interest on the Warrant as the same shall become due and payable. 

 

Redemption 

 

 This Warrant will be subject to prior redemption at the option and direction of the City, on any 

Business Day, in whole (but not in part), at a redemption price equal to the outstanding principal amount 

hereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without premium or penalty. 

 

 The City may redeem this Warrant upon five days’ written notice thereof to the Holder. 

 

 Upon payment of the redemption price for this Warrant, interest shall cease to accrue on this 

Warrant from and after the date of payment of such redemption price. 

 



 

04001531.3 

Registration, Transfer and Exchange 

 

 This Warrant is recorded and registered as to principal and interest in the name of the registered 

owner on the Warrant Register. 

 

 This Warrant may be transferred by the registered owner in person or by authorized attorney, only on 

the Warrant Register maintained by the City and only upon compliance with the Ordinance with respect 

thereto. 

 

 The Ordinance provides that the registered owner of this Warrant, by receiving or accepting this 

Warrant, consents and agrees and is estopped to deny that this Warrant may be transferred only upon 

compliance with the provisions of the Ordinance. 

 

General 

 

The Ordinance provides that, as a condition of, and a consideration of, the issuance of this 

Warrant, the registered owner of this Warrant shall have agreed that no covenant or agreement contained 

in this Warrant or in the Ordinance shall be deemed to be a covenant or agreement of any officer, agent, 

employee, or member of the governing body of the City in its individual capacity and none of such parties or 

persons nor any officer executing this Warrant shall be liable personally on this Warrant or be subject to 

any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of this Warrant. 

It is hereby recited, certified and declared that the indebtedness evidenced and ordered paid by this 

Warrant is lawfully due without condition, abatement or offset of any description, that this Warrant has 

been registered in the manner provided by law, that all acts, conditions and things required by the 

Constitution and laws of the State of Alabama to happen, exist and be performed precedent to and in the 

authorization, execution, registration and issuance of this Warrant and the adoption of the Ordinance, have 

happened, do exist and have been performed in due time, form and manner as so required by law and that 

the principal amount of this Warrant, together with all other indebtedness of the City, are within every debt 

and other limit prescribed by the Constitution and laws of the State of Alabama. 



 

04001531.3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City, acting by and through the City Council of the City as the 

governing body thereof, has caused this Warrant to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Mayor 

of the City, has caused its corporate seal to be affixed hereto and the same attested by the City Clerk of the 

City, and has caused this Warrant to be dated the date and year specified above. 

 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

 

By:       

Mayor 

 

S E A L 

 

 

Attest:       

  City Clerk 

 

 

 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies that this Warrant has been duly registered as a claim against the 

City of Vestavia Hills, in the State of Alabama, and the Warrant Fund referred to herein. 

 

 

       

Finance Director of the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 



 

04001531.3 

ASSIGNMENT 

 

 

For value received ________________________________ hereby sell(s), assign(s), and transfer(s) unto 

__________________ the within Warrant and hereby irrevocably constitute(s) and appoint(s) 

_______________________, attorney, with full power of substitution in the premises, to transfer this Warrant 

on the books of the within mentioned City. 

 

Dated this ____ day of ______________, ____. 

 

__________________ 

 

NOTE:  The signature on this assignment must correspond with the name of the registered owner as it 

appears on the face of the within Warrant in every particular, without alteration, enlargement or change 

whatsoever. 

 

 

Signature Guaranteed:* 

 

_______________________________ 

(Bank, Trust Company or Firm) 

 

By_____________________________ 

(Authorized Officer) 

 

* Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution which is a member of the 

recognized signature guarantee program, i.e., Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program (STAMP), 

Stock Exchanges Medallion Program (SEMP), or New York Stock Exchange Medallion Signature Program 

(MSP). 

 



 

04001531.3 

Section 3.03 Execution, Authentication and Delivery of Warrant 

 

The Warrant shall be executed in the name of and on behalf of the City by signature of the Mayor, 

shall be sealed with the seal of the City imprinted thereon, and said seal and said Warrant shall be attested 

by the City Clerk of the City.  The Warrant shall be registered by the Finance Director of the City as a claim 

against the City and the Warrant Fund.  The Mayor, the City Clerk  and the Finance Director of the City 

are hereby authorized and directed to so execute, attest and register the Warrant as provided above.  The 

signature of officers in office on the date of signing thereof shall be valid and binding obligations, 

notwithstanding that before the delivery and payment therefor, such officers whose signatures appear 

thereon shall have ceased to be officers of the City.   

 Section 3.04 Sale and Delivery of Warrant; Closing Papers 

 

 (a) The Warrant is hereby sold to Branch Banking and Trust Company, upon the payment to 

the City of the purchase price of the Net Warrant Proceeds.  The City has determined that the sale of the 

Warrant to such purchaser on such terms is most advantageous to the City. 

 

 (b) The Warrant shall be delivered to such purchaser upon the payment to the City of the 

aforesaid purchase price.  The Mayor and the City Clerk, or either of them, are hereby authorized and 

directed to effect such delivery and in connection therewith to execute and deliver the Tax Certificate and 

Agreement and such certificates and notices  containing such representations as are required to 

demonstrate the legality and validity of the Warrant; the exemption of interest on the Warrant from State 

of Alabama income taxation; and the absence of pending or threatened litigation with respect to any of such 

matters.   

 

 (c) The City Clerk shall give a receipt to the purchaser for the purchase price paid, and such 

receipt shall be full acquittal to the purchaser and said purchaser shall not be required to see to, or be 

responsible for, the application of the proceeds of the Warrant.  Nevertheless, the proceeds of the Warrant 

shall be held in trust and applied solely for the purposes specified in this Ordinance. 

 

 Section 3.05 Application of Proceeds of Warrant 

 

 The Net Warrant Proceeds shall be held by the City and applied, in the discretion of the City, to the 

payment of (i) the costs of the Series 2017 Capital Improvements, (ii) the expenses of issuing the Warrant, and 

(iii) such costs and fees as may be incurred by the City in connection with the public park and recreation 

facilities of the City. 

 

 Section 3.06 Amendment of Series 2017 Capital Improvements 

 

 The City may apply any portion of the Net Warrant Proceeds for the acquisition, construction or 

installation of any property not included within, or described as part of, the Series 2017 Capital 

Improvements, if prior thereto:  (a) the governing body of the City adopts an ordinance in which the City 

describes the property to be so acquired, constructed or installed and authorizes the use of Net Warrant 

Proceeds for such purpose, and (b) the City files in the office of the City Clerk an opinion of counsel from an 

attorney or firm of attorneys with experience in the matters to be covered by such opinion to the effect the 

use of Net Warrant Proceeds to acquire, construct, or install such property is authorized by law and will not 

cause the interest on the Warrant to be Taxable. 

 



 

04001531.3 

ARTICLE 4 

 

Registration and Transfer of Warrant 

 Section 4.01 Registration of Warrant 

 

 The City shall maintain a register (the “Warrant Register”) in which, subject to such reasonable 

regulations as it may prescribe, the City shall provide for the registration of the Warrant and registration of 

transfers of the Warrant entitled to be registered or transferred as herein provided.   

 

Section 4.02 Registration, Transfer, and Exchange of Warrant; Replacement of 

Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen Warrant 

 

(a) The Warrant will be registered in the names of the Holder thereof on the Warrant 

Register. 

 

(b) (1) This Warrant may be transferred by the registered owner in person or by 

authorized attorney, only upon the Warrant Register and only: 

 

 (i) to a “qualified institutional buyer” under Rule 144A under the Securities 

Act of 1933, as amended, or an “accredited investor” (as defined in 17 CFR Section 

230.501(a)(1), (2), (3), (7), or (8)) with respect to whom the registered owner of the Warrant 

shall have given prior written notice to the City of the identity and address thereof and 

who shall have delivered to the City in writing representations from the transferee (A) as 

to the status thereof as such “qualified institutional buyer” or “accredited investor” and (B) 

that such transferee has reviewed this Ordinance and verified the principal amount of the 

Warrant then outstanding; and  

 

 (ii) upon surrender of the Warrant to the City, with a written instrument of 

transfer acceptable to the City executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized 

attorney; and  

 

 (iii) upon payment of any tax or governmental charge required to be paid 

with respect thereto plus the expenses of the City incurred in connection therewith. 

 

 (2) Upon surrender for transfer of any Warrant, the City shall execute, in the name 

of the designated transferee or transferees, one or more new Warrants in a principal amount equal 

to the principal amount of the Warrant so presented. 

 

 (3) The City will not register the transfer of the Warrant from and after the Maturity 

Date set forth in the Warrant. 

 

(c) The registered owner of the Warrant will be required to pay any expenses incurred in 

connection with the replacement of a mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant. 

 

(d) Each Warrant issued upon any transfer or exchange of the Warrant shall be the valid 

obligation of the City and be entitled to the same security and benefits under this Ordinance as the Warrant 

surrendered upon such transfer or exchange, and every new Warrant issued pursuant to this Section in lieu 



 

04001531.3 

of any destroyed, lost or stolen Warrant shall constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the 

City, whether or not the destroyed, lost or stolen Warrant shall be at any time enforceable by anyone.  

 

(e) The provisions of this Section are exclusive and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all 

other rights and remedies with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen 

Warrant. 

 

(f) The registered owner of the Warrant, by receiving or accepting the Warrant, consents and 

agrees and is estopped to deny that the Warrant may only be transferred only upon compliance with the 

provisions of this Ordinance. 

 

 

ARTICLE 5 

 

Payment of Warrant 

 Section 5.01 Payment of Warrant; Payment Dates; Persons Deemed Owners 

 

 (a) The City and any agent of the City shall treat the Person in whose name the Warrant is 

registered on the Warrant Register as the only owner of such Warrant for the purpose of receiving payment of 

principal of and interest on such Warrant and for all other purposes whatsoever, whether or not such Warrant 

be overdue, and, to the extent permitted by law, neither the City nor any such agent shall be affected by notice 

to the contrary. 

 

 (b) The City shall pay the principal of and interest on the Warrant to the Holder, in lawful money 

of the United States of America without deduction for exchange, fees, or expenses by the City, at the address 

and in the manner directed by the Holder to the City in writing. 

 

 (c) If any payment on the Warrant is due on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment 

shall be made on the first succeeding day which is a Business Day with the same effect as if made on the day 

such payment was due. 

 

 (d) All payments by the City of principal of and interest on the Warrant shall be valid and 

effectual to forever satisfy and discharge the liability of the City to the extent of the amounts so paid. 

 

 Section 5.02 The Warrant Fund 

 

(a) (1) There is hereby established a special fund which shall be designated the “Warrant 

Fund”. 

 

(2) The City shall be the depository, custodian and disbursing agent for the Warrant 

Fund. 

 

(3) The money in the Warrant Fund shall be used only to pay principal of and 

interest on the Warrant as the same shall become due and payable. 

 

(b) The City shall deposit in the Warrant Fund: 

 



 

04001531.3 

(1) such amounts at such times as shall be required to provide for the due and 

punctual payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrant when and as such principal and 

interest becomes due and payable pursuant to the Warrant; 

 

(2) any money required to be deposited in the Warrant Fund pursuant to this 

Ordinance. 

 

 (c) The City shall collect the revenues, income, taxes, assets and resources of the City and the 

City shall promptly deposit into the Warrant Fund from the aforesaid sources all amounts required to be 

deposited in the Warrant Fund at the times therefor. 

 

(d) (1) The City acknowledges that deposits and transfers to the Warrant Fund required 

by this Section have been calculated to provide amounts which will be sufficient to pay the 

principal of and interest on the Warrant as the same shall become due and payable.   

 

(2) If on any principal or interest payment date the amount on deposit in the 

Warrant Fund is insufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Warrant due and payable 

on such date, the City will forthwith pay any such deficiency into the Warrant Fund. 

 

 (e) The City agrees that (i) all money transferred to or deposited in the Warrant Fund shall be 

applied to the payment of principal of and interest on the Warrant within 13 months from the date of such 

transfer or deposit and (ii) all income and profits received from investment of money in the Warrant Fund shall 

be applied to the payment of principal of and interest on the Warrant within 12 months from the date of receipt 

of such income or profits. 

 

 Section 5.03 Investment of and Security For Warrant Fund 

 

 (a) The City shall invest money in the Warrant Fund in Qualified Investments.  Investments 

shall be made so that a sufficient principal amount shall mature or be redeemable at the option of the holder on 

or prior to the date or dates the City anticipates that money from the Warrant Fund will be required hereunder. 

 

 (b) All income derived from the investment of money on deposit in the Warrant Fund shall 

remain therein and be credited against the next ensuing deposit specified therefor, and all losses resulting from 

liquidation of investments in the Warrant Fund shall be charged thereto and added to the next ensuing deposit 

specified therefor. 

 

Section 5.04 Expenses of Collection 

 

The City hereby covenants and agrees that, if the principal of and interest on the Warrant is not 

paid promptly as such principal and interest matures and comes due, it will pay to the Holder of the 

Warrant all expenses reasonably incurred in any action for the collection of any unpaid portion of the 

Warrant, including reasonable attorneys' fees. 

 



 

04001531.3 

ARTICLE 6 

 

Federal Tax Matters 

 

(a) The City covenants and agrees to duly and punctually observe and perform all agreements 

and covenants thereof under the Tax Certificate and Agreement. 

(b) The City covenants and agrees that it will not take any action, or fail to take any action, 

with respect to the Warrant that would cause the interest on the Warrant not to be and remain excludable 

from gross income under Section 103 of the Code. 

(c) The City hereby designates the Warrant as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” for 

purposes of paragraph (3) of subsection (b) of Section 265 of the Code and in connection therewith and after 

due investigation and consideration, finds, determines and declares that the amount of tax-exempt 

obligations that have heretofore during the current calendar year (2017) been issued by the City and by all 

subordinate entities of the City and the reasonably anticipated amount of tax-exempt obligations that will 

be issued by the City and its subordinate entities during the current calendar year will not exceed the sum 

of $10,000,000. 

 

ARTICLE 7 

 

Agreements of City 

 

Section 7.01 Provision of Information 

 

 The City agrees to provide to the Holder of the Warrant: 

 

 (a) A copy of information required to be filed by the City under 17 CFR Section 240.15c2-12 

within ten (10) days of such filing; and 

 

 (b) Such other information respecting the financial condition and operations of the City as the 

Holder shall reasonably request in writing and as shall not be subject to applicable privacy laws, rules or 

regulations; confidentiality agreements; or any privilege. 

 

Section 7.02 Participations 

 

 The City agrees that the Holder may from time to time enter into a participation agreement or 

agreements with one or more persons (the "Participants"), pursuant to which the Participants shall be given 

participations in the Warrant, and that the Participants may from time to time similarly grant to one or more 

other persons (also included in the term "Participants") subparticipations in the Warrant; provided, that (i) no 

participation shall increase any liability of the City, and (ii) the City shall have no direct obligation or 

responsibility to a Participant and shall correspond and deal only with the Holder for the observance and 

performance of the respective obligations of the City and the Holder under this Ordinance.  Any Holder may 

divulge to any Participant all information, reports, financial statements, certificates and documents obtained by 

it from the City or any other person under any provisions of this Ordinance or otherwise. 

 

 



 

04001531.3 

ARTICLE 8 

 

Provisions of General Application 

 

 Section 8.01 Effect of Headings and Table of Contents 

 

 The Article and Section headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction 

hereof. 

 

 Section 8.02 Binding Effect Upon Successors and Assigns 

 

 All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements in this Ordinance contained by or on behalf 

of the City shall inure to the benefit of and bind its successors and assigns. 

 

 Section 8.03 Governing Law 

 

 This Ordinance shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of 

Alabama. 

 

 Section 8.04 Repeal of Conflicting Provisions 

 

 All ordinances, resolutions and orders or parts thereof in conflict with this Ordinance are, to the extent 

of such conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 

ARTICLE 9 

 

Provision of Ordinance a Contract; Enforceability and Severability; Remedies 

 

 (a) The terms, provisions and conditions set forth in this Ordinance constitute a contract between 

the City and the registered owners of the Warrant and shall remain in effect until the principal of and interest 

on the Warrant shall have been paid in full. 

 

 (b) The provisions of this Ordinance are severable.  In the event that any one or more of such 

provisions or the provisions of the Warrant shall, for any reason, be held illegal or invalid, such illegality or 

invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this Ordinance or of the Warrant, and this Ordinance and the 

Warrant shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid provision had not been contained herein or 

therein. 

 

 (c) The City agrees (i) the registered owners of the Warrant shall have all rights and remedies for 

the enforcement of the Warrant and this Ordinance as may be provided by the laws of the State of Alabama, 

including particularly the Enabling Law, and (ii) the Finance Director (or any successor to the duties and 

functions thereof) of the City is subject to mandamus in the event such officer has money available for 

payment of principal of and interest on the Warrant and does not, as required by this Ordinance, deposit such 

money in the Warrant Fund, when and as required by Section 5.02 of this Ordinance in each Fiscal Year, and 

apply such proceeds (and investment earnings thereon) to the payment of the principal of and interest on the 

Warrant when and as the same become due and payable in each Fiscal Year in amounts sufficient for such 

purposes. 



 

04001531.3 

 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this May 22, 2017. 

 

 

       

 Mayor 

S E A L 

Attest:      

 City Clerk 

 

 



 

04001531.3 

It was moved by Councilmember _______________ that all rules and regulations which, unless 

suspended, would prevent the immediate consideration and adoption of the said ordinance be suspended 

and that unanimous consent to the immediate consideration and adoption of the said ordinance be given.  

The motion was seconded by Councilmember _______________ and on roll call was unanimously adopted, 

those answering aye being: 

 

Ayes: Ashley C. Curry, Mayor 

 Kimberly Cook 

 Paul J. Head 

 George Pierce 

 Rusty Weaver 

 

Nays: None 

 

The Mayor declared the motion unanimously carried. 

 

After said ordinance had been discussed and considered in full by the Council, it was moved by 

Councilmember ____________ that said ordinance be now placed upon its final passage and adopted.  The 

motion was seconded by Councilmember ____________.  The question being put as to the adoption of said 

motion and the final passage and adoption of said ordinance, the roll was called with the following results: 

 

Ayes: Ashley C. Curry, Mayor 

 Kimberly Cook 

 Paul J. Head 

 George Pierce 

 Rusty Weaver 

 

Nays: None 

 

The Mayor thereupon declared said motion carried and the ordinance passed and adopted as 

introduced and read. 

 

 



 

04001531.3 

*     *     *     * 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, it was moved and seconded that the 

meeting be adjourned.  Motion carried. 

Approval of Minutes: 

 

Each of the undersigned does hereby approve, 

and waive notice of, the date, time, place and 

purpose of the meeting of the City Council of 

Vestavia Hills recorded in the above and 

foregoing minutes thereof and does hereby 

approve the form and content of the above and 

foregoing minutes and ordinance therein. 

___________________________________ 

Mayor  

___________________________________ 

Member of the City Council 

___________________________________ 

Member of the City Council 

___________________________________ 

Member of the City Council 

___________________________________ 

Member of the City Council 

S E A L 

Attest:____________________________ 

 City Clerk 



 

04001531.3 

STATE OF ALABAMA ) 

JEFFERSON COUNTY ) 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF CITY CLERK 

 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that (1) I am the duly elected, qualified and acting City Clerk 

of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (the "Municipality"); (2) as Clerk of the Municipality I have access to 

all original records of the Municipality and I am duly authorized to make certified copies of its records on its 

behalf; (3) the above and foregoing pages constitute a complete, verbatim and compared copy of excerpts 

from the minutes of a regular meeting of the City Council of the Municipality duly held on May 22, 2017, 

the original of which is on file and of record in the minute book of the City Council in my custody; (4) the 

ordinance set forth in such excerpts is a complete, verbatim and compared copy of such ordinance as 

introduced and adopted by the City Council on such date; and (5) said ordinance is in full force and effect 

and has not been repealed, amended or changed. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as Clerk of the Municipality and have 

affixed the official seal of the Municipality, this ___________, 2017. 

 

 

_________________________________________ 

Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

SEAL 

  



 

04000125.3 

EXCERPTS FROM THE MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

         

Ordinance Authorizing the Issuance of  

$9,100,000 

General Obligation Warrant  

(Federally Taxable) 

Series 2017-BB&T2 

         

 

The City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills met in regular public session at the City Hall in the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, at 6:00 p.m. on May 22, 2017.  The meeting was called to order by the 

Mayor, and the roll was called with the following results: 

 

Present: Ashley C. Curry, Mayor 

 Kimberly Cook 

 Paul J. Head 

 George Pierce 

 Rusty Weaver 

 

 Absent:  _________________ 

 

*     *     * 

 

The Mayor stated that a quorum was present and that the meeting was open for the transaction of 

business. 

 

*     *     * 

 

Thereupon, the following ordinance was introduced in writing by the Mayor and considered by the 

City Council: 

 



 

04000125.3 

        

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2710 

        

 

 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

 

 

 

 

For 

 

 

 

 

 

$9,100,000 

GENERAL OBLIGATION WARRANT  

(FEDERALLY TAXABLE)  

SERIES 2017-BB&T2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted: May 22, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

              

 



 

04000125.3 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2710 

 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND MAKING PROVISION FOR THE 

PAYMENT OF $9,100,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION WARRANT (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

SERIES 2017-BB&T2 

             

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 

ALABAMA, as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1 

 

Rules of Construction and Definitions of Terms 

 

Section 1.01  Rules of Construction 

 

 For all purposes of this Ordinance, except as otherwise expressly provided or unless the context 

otherwise requires: 

 

 (a) The terms defined in this Article have the meanings assigned to them in this Article and 

include the plural as well as the singular. 

 

 (b) All references in this Ordinance to designated “Articles”, “Sections” and other subdivisions are 

to the designated Articles, Sections and subdivisions of this Ordinance as originally adopted. 

 

 (c) The terms “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this 

Ordinance as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other subdivision. 

 

Section 1.02  Definitions of Terms 

 

The following words and phrases and others evidently intended as the equivalent thereof shall, in 

the absence of clear implication herein otherwise, be given the following respective interpretations herein: 

 Authorized Denominations means an amount equal to the principal amount of the Warrant at any 

time outstanding. 

 

 Business Day means a day, other than a Saturday or a Sunday, on which commercial banking 

institutions are open for business in the State. 

 

City means the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama and its successors and assigns. 

 Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and all references to specific sections of 

the Code shall be deemed to include any and all respective successor provisions to such sections. 

 

 Enabling Law means Section 11-47-2 of the Code of Alabama 1975, as amended. 



 

04000125.3 

Federal Securities means direct general obligations of the United States of America or any 

securities on which the payment of the principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the United 

States of America. 

Fiscal Year means the period beginning on October 1 of one calendar year and ending on 

September 30 of the next succeeding calendar year or such other Fiscal Year as may hereafter be adopted by 

the City. 

 Holder when used with respect to any Warrant means the Person in whose name such Warrant is 

registered in the Warrant Register. 

 

 Net Warrant Proceeds means the net proceeds received from the sale of the Warrant. 

 

 Ordinance means this Ordinance as originally adopted or as it may from time to time be 

supplemented, modified or amended. 

 

Person means and includes any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint 

venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization and any government or agency or political subdivision 

thereof. 

 

 Qualified Investments means: 

 

 (a) Federal Securities or a trust or fund consisting of Federal Securities; 

 

 (b) Obligations of any of the following federal agencies, which obligations represent the full 

faith and credit of the United States of America: 

 

(1) Farmers Home Administration; 

(2) General Services Administration; 

(3) U.S. Maritime Administration; 

(4) Small Business Administration; 

(5) Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA); 

(6) U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD); 

(7) Federal Housing Administration (FHA); 

 

 (c) U.S. dollar denominated deposit accounts and certificates of deposit with banks or savings 

associations which are qualified public depositories under the laws of the State of Alabama; or 

 

 (d) any investment, obligation, or security at any time permitted by the laws of the State of 

Alabama for the investment or security of municipal or public funds, including without limitation Section 11-81-

21 of the Code of Alabama 1975. 

 

Series 2017 Capital Improvements means the real property and improvements to be acquired 

by the Net Warrant Proceeds for a civic center and public roads used in connection therewith. 

State shall mean the State of Alabama. 



 

04000125.3 

Warrant means the General Obligation Warrant (Federally Taxable), Series 2017-BB&T2, dated 

the date of delivery, authorized to be issued pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance. 

Warrant Fund means the fund established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof. 

Warrant Register shall have the meaning assigned in Section 4.01. 

 

ARTICLE 2 

 

 Source of Payment of Warrant 

 

Section 2.01 Source of Payment of Warrant 

 

(a) The indebtedness evidenced and ordered paid by the Warrant shall be a general obligation 

of the City and shall be secured by an irrevocable and sacred pledge of the full faith, credit and taxing power 

of the City. 

 

(b) The Warrant is solely an obligation of the City and shall never constitute an indebtedness, 

pecuniary liability, or charge against the general credit or taxing power of the State of Alabama or any 

other political subdivision therein or thereof. 

 

Section 2.02 Officers and Members of the Governing Body of the City Exempt from 

Individual Liability 

 

By acceptance of the Warrant, the Holder thereof shall have agreed that no recourse under or upon 

any covenant or agreement of this Ordinance or of the Warrant, or for any claim based thereon or otherwise 

in respect thereof, shall be had against any past, present or future officer, employee, or member of the 

governing body of the City, or of any successor of any thereof, and all such liability of every name and 

nature, either at common law or in equity or by constitution or statute, and any and all such rights and 

claims against every such officer, employee, or member of the governing body of the City as such, are hereby 

expressly waived and released as a condition of, and as a consideration for, the issuance of the Warrant. 

 

 

ARTICLE 3 

 

The Warrant 

 

Section 3.01 Determinations and Representations Respecting the Warrant 

The City, upon evidence duly presented to and considered by it, does hereby find, determine and 

represent as follows: 

 

(a) It is necessary and desirable and in the public interest for the City to issue the Warrant to 

provide for the following purposes: 

 

(1) to provide for payment of the costs of the Series 2017 Capital Improvements; and 

 



 

04000125.3 

(2) to pay issuance expenses of the Warrant. 

 

(b) The City is not in default with respect to any long-term indebtedness of the City, and no 

such default is imminent. 

 

(c) The City has the power and authority under the Enabling Law to authorize and issue the 

Warrant for the purposes provided herein. 

 

(d) The assessed valuation of the taxable property in the City for the preceding fiscal year 

(ending September 30, 2016) is not less than $700,120,010, and the total indebtedness of the City 

chargeable against the debt limitation for the City prescribed by the Constitution of Alabama of 1901 is not 

more than twenty percent of said assessed valuation. 

 

Section 3.02 Authorization and Description of Warrant 

(a) Pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State of Alabama, including particularly the 

Enabling Law, there is hereby authorized to be issued a series of warrants, as a single certificated warrant, 

in the principal amount of $9,100,000, for the purposes set forth in Section 3.01(a). 

 

(b) The Warrant shall be designated “General Obligation Warrant (Federally Taxable), Series 

2017-BB&T2,” shall be in fully registered form, without coupons, shall be in Authorized Denominations and 

shall be dated the date of delivery. 

(c) (1) Interest on the Warrant shall be determined on the basis of a 360-day year of 12 

months of 30 days each. 

 (2) The Warrant shall bear interest at the per annum rate set forth therein. 

 

 (d) The Warrant shall be payable as to principal and interest as provided therein. 

(e) The principal of, premium (if any) and interest on the Warrant shall be payable in lawful 

money of the United States of America, without deduction for exchange, fees or expenses, as provided in this 

Ordinance and as set forth in the Warrant. 

(f) The Warrant is subject to redemption prior to maturity upon the circumstances, in the 

manner, on the dates, in the amounts and order, at the redemption prices and upon the notice as provided 

in the Warrant. 

(g) The form of the Warrant and the assignments appertaining thereto shall be substantially 

as follows, with appropriate changes, variations and insertions as provided herein: 



 

04000125.3 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

This Warrant has not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or under any state 

securities law, in reliance upon applicable exemptions.  This Warrant, or any interest herein, may only be 

transferred in compliance with federal and state securities laws and as provided in the Ordinance under 

which this Warrant is issued as referenced herein. 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

This Warrant is payable only to, and is transferable only by, the registered owner set forth in the Warrant 

Register.  All payments of principal of and interest on this Warrant shall forever discharge all obligations of 

the City therefor.  Each transferee of this Warrant takes it subject to all payments theretofore made hereon 

and all rights and defenses of the City at law or in equity. 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF ALABAMA 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

GENERAL OBLIGATION WARRANT 

(FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

SERIES 2017-BB&T2 

No. R-1 

 DATED DATE: INTEREST RATE: MATURITY DATE: 

 May __, 2017 2.95% May __, 2021 

The CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, a municipal corporation organized and existing under and by 

virtue of the laws of the State of Alabama (the “City”), for value received, hereby acknowledges itself 

indebted to  

BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY 

or registered assigns (collectively, the “Holder”) in the principal amount of 

NINE MILLION ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($9,100,000) 

and hereby orders and directs the Finance Director (or any successor to the duties and functions thereof) of 

the City to pay to said payee or registered assigns, solely from the Warrant Fund hereinafter designated, 

said principal amount, and to pay, solely from said Warrant Fund, interest on the unpaid principal balance 

of said principal amount until payment in full, at the Interest Rate per annum specified above, in 

installments as follows: 



 

04000125.3 

(a) On May __, 2018, and on each May __ thereafter, until and including April 28, 

2020, an amount equal to the principal amount of this Warrant becoming due and payable on each 

such date, as set forth below, plus interest accrued thereon to each such date of payment: 

Date Principal Amount 

  

05/__/2018 $216,300.00 

05/__/2019 222,680.85 

05/__/2020 229,249.94 

 

(b) On the Maturity Date specified above, an amount equal to the principal amount of 

this Warrant then outstanding plus interest accrued thereon to (but not including) such date of 

payment. 

Authority for Issuance; Source of Payment and Security; Reference to Ordinance 

 

This Warrant (the “Warrant”) is issued pursuant to the authority of the Constitution and laws of 

the state of Alabama and an ordinance and proceedings of the City duly held, passed and conducted (the 

“Ordinance”). 

 

Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the respective meanings assigned 

thereto in the Ordinance. 

 

The indebtedness evidenced and ordered paid by the Warrant shall be a general obligation of the 

City and shall be secured by an irrevocable and sacred pledge of the full faith, credit and taxing power of the 

City. 

 

The Warrant is solely an obligation of the City and shall never constitute an indebtedness, 

pecuniary liability, or charge against the general credit or taxing power of the State of Alabama or any 

other political subdivision therein or thereof. 

 

Reference is hereby made to the Ordinance for a description of the nature and extent of the security 

afforded by the Ordinance, the rights and duties of the City with respect thereto, and the terms and 

conditions upon which the purchase, transfer and exchange of the Warrant is to be made, to and by all of 

which terms, conditions and provisions of the Ordinance the owner of this Warrant, by the acquisition 

hereof, hereby assents and agrees to be bound. 

 

Payment; Warrant Fund 

 

 The principal of and interest on the Warrant shall be paid by the City to the Holder as provided in the 

Ordinance. 

 

The City has established in the Ordinance a special fund designated “Warrant Fund” for the 

payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrant and has obligated itself to pay or cause to be paid 

into the Warrant Fund, from the revenues or funds of the City, sums sufficient to provide for the payment of 

the principal of and interest on the Warrant as the same shall become due and payable. 

 



 

04000125.3 

Redemption 

 

 This Warrant will be subject to prior redemption at the option and direction of the City, on any 

Business Day, in whole (but not in part), at a redemption price equal to the outstanding principal amount 

hereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without premium or penalty. 

 

 The City may redeem this Warrant upon five days’ written notice thereof to the Holder. 

 

 Upon payment of the redemption price for this Warrant, interest shall cease to accrue on this 

Warrant from and after the date of payment of such redemption price. 

 

Registration, Transfer and Exchange 

 

 This Warrant is recorded and registered as to principal and interest in the name of the registered 

owner on the Warrant Register. 

 

 This Warrant may be transferred by the registered owner in person or by authorized attorney, only on 

the Warrant Register maintained by the City and only upon compliance with the Ordinance with respect 

thereto. 

 

 The Ordinance provides that the registered owner of this Warrant, by receiving or accepting this 

Warrant, consents and agrees and is estopped to deny that this Warrant may be transferred only upon 

compliance with the provisions of the Ordinance. 

 

General 

 

The Ordinance provides that, as a condition of, and a consideration of, the issuance of this 

Warrant, the registered owner of this Warrant shall have agreed that no covenant or agreement contained 

in this Warrant or in the Ordinance shall be deemed to be a covenant or agreement of any officer, agent, 

employee, or member of the governing body of the City in its individual capacity and none of such parties or 

persons nor any officer executing this Warrant shall be liable personally on this Warrant or be subject to 

any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of this Warrant. 

It is hereby recited, certified and declared that the indebtedness evidenced and ordered paid by this 

Warrant is lawfully due without condition, abatement or offset of any description, that this Warrant has 

been registered in the manner provided by law, that all acts, conditions and things required by the 

Constitution and laws of the State of Alabama to happen, exist and be performed precedent to and in the 

authorization, execution, registration and issuance of this Warrant and the adoption of the Ordinance, have 

happened, do exist and have been performed in due time, form and manner as so required by law and that 

the principal amount of this Warrant, together with all other indebtedness of the City, are within every debt 

and other limit prescribed by the Constitution and laws of the State of Alabama. 



 

04000125.3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City, acting by and through the City Council of the City as the 

governing body thereof, has caused this Warrant to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Mayor 

of the City, has caused its corporate seal to be affixed hereto and the same attested by the City Clerk of the 

City, and has caused this Warrant to be dated the date and year specified above. 

 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

 

By:       

Mayor 

 

S E A L 

 

 

Attest:       

  City Clerk 

 

 

 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies that this Warrant has been duly registered as a claim against the 

City of Vestavia Hills, in the State of Alabama, and the Warrant Fund referred to herein. 

 

 

       

Finance Director of the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 



 

04000125.3 

ASSIGNMENT 

 

 

For value received ________________________________ hereby sell(s), assign(s), and transfer(s) unto 

__________________ the within Warrant and hereby irrevocably constitute(s) and appoint(s) 

_______________________, attorney, with full power of substitution in the premises, to transfer this Warrant 

on the books of the within mentioned City. 

 

Dated this ____ day of ______________, ____. 

 

__________________ 

 

NOTE:  The signature on this assignment must correspond with the name of the registered owner as it 

appears on the face of the within Warrant in every particular, without alteration, enlargement or change 

whatsoever. 

 

 

Signature Guaranteed:* 

 

_______________________________ 

(Bank, Trust Company or Firm) 

 

By_____________________________ 

(Authorized Officer) 

 

* Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution which is a member of the 

recognized signature guarantee program, i.e., Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program (STAMP), 

Stock Exchanges Medallion Program (SEMP), or New York Stock Exchange Medallion Signature Program 

(MSP). 

 



 

04000125.3 

Section 3.03 Execution, Authentication and Delivery of Warrant 

 

The Warrant shall be executed in the name of and on behalf of the City by signature of the Mayor, 

shall be sealed with the seal of the City imprinted thereon, and said seal and said Warrant shall be attested 

by the City Clerk of the City.  The Warrant shall be registered by the Finance Director of the City as a claim 

against the City and the Warrant Fund.  The Mayor, the City Clerk  and the Finance Director of the City 

are hereby authorized and directed to so execute, attest and register the Warrant as provided above.  The 

signature of officers in office on the date of signing thereof shall be valid and binding obligations, 

notwithstanding that before the delivery and payment therefor, such officers whose signatures appear 

thereon shall have ceased to be officers of the City.   

 Section 3.04 Sale and Delivery of Warrant; Closing Papers 

 

 (a) The Warrant is hereby sold to Branch Banking and Trust Company, upon the payment to 

the City of the purchase price of the Net Warrant Proceeds.  The City has determined that the sale of the 

Warrant to such purchaser on such terms is most advantageous to the City. 

 

 (b) The Warrant shall be delivered to such purchaser upon the payment to the City of the 

aforesaid purchase price.  The Mayor and the City Clerk, or either of them, are hereby authorized and 

directed to effect such delivery and in connection therewith to execute and deliver such certificates and 

notices  containing such representations as are required to demonstrate the legality and validity of the 

Warrant; the exemption of interest on the Warrant from State of Alabama income taxation; and the absence 

of pending or threatened litigation with respect to any of such matters.   

 

 (c) The City Clerk shall give a receipt to the purchaser for the purchase price paid, and such 

receipt shall be full acquittal to the purchaser and said purchaser shall not be required to see to, or be 

responsible for, the application of the proceeds of the Warrant.  Nevertheless, the proceeds of the Warrant 

shall be held in trust and applied solely for the purposes specified in this Ordinance. 

 

 Section 3.05 Application of Proceeds of Warrant 

 

 The Net Warrant Proceeds shall be held by the City and applied to the payment of the costs of the 

Series 2017 Capital Improvements and to the payment of the expenses of issuing the Warrant. 

 

 Section 3.06 Amendment of Series 2017 Capital Improvements 

 

 The City may apply any portion of the Net Warrant Proceeds for the acquisition, construction or 

installation of any property not included within, or described as part of, the Series 2017 Capital 

Improvements, if prior thereto:  (a) the governing body of the City adopts an ordinance in which the City 

describes the property to be so acquired, constructed or installed and authorizes the use of Net Warrant 

Proceeds for such purpose, and (b) the City files in the office of the City Clerk an opinion of counsel from an 

attorney or firm of attorneys with experience in the matters to be covered by such opinion to the effect the 

use of Net Warrant Proceeds to acquire, construct, or install such property is authorized by law and, if 

applicable, will not cause the interest on the Warrant to be Taxable. 

 

 



 

04000125.3 

ARTICLE 4 

 

Registration and Transfer of Warrant 

 Section 4.01 Registration of Warrant 

 

 The City shall maintain a register (the “Warrant Register”) in which, subject to such reasonable 

regulations as it may prescribe, the City shall provide for the registration of the Warrant and registration of 

transfers of the Warrant entitled to be registered or transferred as herein provided.   

 

Section 4.02 Registration, Transfer, and Exchange of Warrant; Replacement of 

Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen Warrant 

 

(a) The Warrant will be registered in the names of the Holder thereof on the Warrant 

Register. 

 

(b) (1) This Warrant may be transferred by the registered owner in person or by 

authorized attorney, only upon the Warrant Register and only: 

 

 (i) to a “qualified institutional buyer” under Rule 144A under the Securities 

Act of 1933, as amended, or an “accredited investor” (as defined in 17 CFR Section 

230.501(a)(1), (2), (3), (7), or (8)) with respect to whom the registered owner of the Warrant 

shall have given prior written notice to the City of the identity and address thereof and 

who shall have delivered to the City in writing representations from such transferee (A) as 

to the status thereof as such “qualified institutional buyer” or “accredited investor” and (B) 

that such transferee has reviewed this Ordinance and verified the principal amount of the 

Warrant then outstanding; and  

 

 (ii) upon surrender of the Warrant to the City, with a written instrument of 

transfer acceptable to the City executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized 

attorney; and  

 

 (iii) upon payment of any tax or governmental charge required to be paid 

with respect thereto plus the expenses of the City incurred in connection therewith. 

 

 (2) Upon surrender for transfer of any Warrant, the City shall execute, in the name 

of the designated transferee or transferees, one or more new Warrants in a principal amount equal 

to the principal amount of the Warrant so presented. 

 

 (3) The City will not register the transfer of the Warrant from and after the Maturity 

Date set forth in the Warrant. 

 

(c) The registered owner of the Warrant will be required to pay any expenses incurred in 

connection with the replacement of a mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant. 

 

(d) Each Warrant issued upon any transfer or exchange of the Warrant shall be the valid 

obligation of the City and be entitled to the same security and benefits under this Ordinance as the Warrant 

surrendered upon such transfer or exchange, and every new Warrant issued pursuant to this Section in lieu 



 

04000125.3 

of any destroyed, lost or stolen Warrant shall constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the 

City, whether or not the destroyed, lost or stolen Warrant shall be at any time enforceable by anyone.  

 

(e) The provisions of this Section are exclusive and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all 

other rights and remedies with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen 

Warrant. 

 

(f) The registered owner of the Warrant, by receiving or accepting the Warrant, consents and 

agrees and is estopped to deny that the Warrant may only be transferred only upon compliance with the 

provisions of this Ordinance. 

 

 

ARTICLE 5 

 

Payment of Warrant 

 Section 5.01 Payment of Warrant; Payment Dates; Persons Deemed Owners 

 

 (a) The City and any agent of the City shall treat the Person in whose name the Warrant is 

registered on the Warrant Register as the only owner of such Warrant for the purpose of receiving payment of 

principal of, premium (if any) and interest on such Warrant and for all other purposes whatsoever, whether or 

not such Warrant be overdue, and, to the extent permitted by law, neither the City nor any such agent shall be 

affected by notice to the contrary. 

 

 (b) The City shall pay the principal of and interest on the Warrant to the Holder, in lawful money 

of the United States of America without deduction for exchange, fees, or expenses by the City, at the address 

and in the manner directed by the Holder to the City in writing. 

 

 (c) If any payment on the Warrant is due on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment 

shall be made on the first succeeding day which is a Business Day with the same effect as if made on the day 

such payment was due. 

 

 (d) All payments by the City of principal of and interest on the Warrant shall be valid and 

effectual to forever satisfy and discharge the liability of the City to the extent of the amounts so paid. 

 

 Section 5.02 The Warrant Fund 

 

(a) (1) There is hereby established a special fund which shall be designated the “Warrant 

Fund”. 

 

(2) The City shall be the depository, custodian and disbursing agent for the Warrant 

Fund. 

 

(3) The money in the Warrant Fund shall be used only to pay principal of and 

interest on the Warrant as the same shall become due and payable. 

 

(b) The City shall deposit in the Warrant Fund: 

 



 

04000125.3 

(1) such amounts at such times as shall be required to provide for the due and 

punctual payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrant when and as such principal and 

interest becomes due and payable pursuant to the Warrant; 

 

(2) any money required to be deposited in the Warrant Fund pursuant to this 

Ordinance. 

 

 (c) The City shall collect the revenues, income, taxes, assets and resources of the City and the 

City shall promptly deposit into the Warrant Fund from the aforesaid sources all amounts required to be 

deposited in the Warrant Fund at the times therefor. 

 

(d) (1) The City acknowledges that deposits and transfers to the Warrant Fund required 

by this Section have been calculated to provide amounts which will be sufficient to pay the 

principal of and interest on the Warrant as the same shall become due and payable.   

 

(2) If on any principal or interest payment date the amount on deposit in the 

Warrant Fund is insufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Warrant due and payable 

on such date, the City will forthwith pay any such deficiency into the Warrant Fund. 

 

 Section 5.03 Investment of and Security For Warrant Fund 

 

 (a) The City shall invest money in the Warrant Fund in Qualified Investments.  Investments 

shall be made so that a sufficient principal amount shall mature or be redeemable at the option of the holder on 

or prior to the date or dates the City anticipates that money from the Warrant Fund will be required hereunder. 

 

 (b) All income derived from the investment of money on deposit in the Warrant Fund shall 

remain therein and be credited against the next ensuing deposit specified therefor, and all losses resulting from 

liquidation of investments in the Warrant Fund shall be charged thereto and added to the next ensuing deposit 

specified therefor. 

 

Section 5.04 Expenses of Collection 

 

The City hereby covenants and agrees that, if the principal of and interest on the Warrant is not 

paid promptly as such principal and interest matures and comes due, it will pay to the Holder of the 

Warrant all expenses reasonably incurred in any action for the collection of any unpaid portion of the 

Warrant, including reasonable attorneys' fees. 

 



 

04000125.3 

ARTICLE 6 

 

Federal Tax Matters; Conversion to Tax-Exempt Rate 

 

(a) Interest on the Warrant is not excludable from gross income under Section 103 of the Code 

for purposes of federal income taxation. 

(b) The Holder agrees the City may, at its option and direction, refund the Warrant by 

exchange thereof for a Warrant of like tenor issued by the City to the Holder as a “tax-exempt bond” (as 

defined in Section 150(a)(6) of the Code), provided that: 

(1) The City shall have delivered written notice to the Holder of its intent to refund 

the Warrant by exchange for a tax-exempt Warrant not less than 20 days in advance of the date on 

which the City expects to issue such Warrant; and  

(2) The City and the Holder agree on the interest rate to be in effect with respect to 

the proposed tax-exempt Warrant which such rate shall be subject to adjustment if interest on such 

Warrant is determined to be includible in gross income for federal income taxation; and  

(3) The City shall provide to the Holder on the date of issuance of the proposed tax-

exempt Warrant evidence of compliance by the City with the provisions of the Code with respect 

thereto; and  

(4) The City shall provide, at the expense of the City, the Holder on the date of 

issuance of the proposed tax-exempt Warrant with an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel 

to the effect that the interest on the proposed tax-exempt Warrant is excludable from gross income 

under Section 103 of the Code for purposes of federal income taxation and that such interest is not 

an item of tax preference for purposes of federal income taxation, and, if applicable, that the 

proposed tax-exempt Warrant is a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” under Section 265(b)(3) of the 

Code; and  

(5) The City shall not, on the date of issuance of the proposed tax-exempt Warrant, be 

in default with respect to any obligation of the City to the Holder, unless waived in writing by the 

Holder. 

 

ARTICLE 7 

 

Agreements of City 

 

Section 7.01 Provision of Information 

 

 The City agrees to provide to the Holder of the Warrant: 

 

 (a) A copy of information required to be filed by the City under 17 CFR Section 240.15c2-12 

within ten (10) days of such filing; and 

 



 

04000125.3 

 (b) Such other information respecting the financial condition and operations of the City as the 

Holder shall reasonably request in writing and as shall not be subject to applicable privacy laws, rules or 

regulations; confidentiality agreements; or any privilege. 

 

Section 7.02 Participations 

 

 The City agrees that the Holder may from time to time enter into a participation agreement or 

agreements with one or more persons (the "Participants"), pursuant to which the Participants shall be given 

participations in the Warrant, and that the Participants may from time to time similarly grant to one or more 

other persons (also included in the term "Participants") subparticipations in the Warrant; provided, that (i) no 

participation shall increase any liability of the City, and (ii) the City shall have no direct obligation or 

responsibility to a Participant and shall correspond and deal only with the Holder for the observance and 

performance of the respective obligations of the City and the Holder under this Ordinance.  Any Holder may 

divulge to any Participant all information, reports, financial statements, certificates and documents obtained by 

it from the City or any other person under any provisions of this Ordinance or otherwise. 

 

 



 

04000125.3 

ARTICLE 8 

 

Provisions of General Application 

 

 Section 8.01 Effect of Headings and Table of Contents 

 

 The Article and Section headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction 

hereof. 

 

 Section 8.02 Binding Effect Upon Successors and Assigns 

 

 All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements in this Ordinance contained by or on behalf 

of the City shall inure to the benefit of and bind its successors and assigns. 

 

 Section 8.03 Governing Law 

 

 This Ordinance shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of 

Alabama. 

 

 Section 8.04 Repeal of Conflicting Provisions 

 

 All ordinances, resolutions and orders or parts thereof in conflict with this Ordinance are, to the extent 

of such conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 

ARTICLE 9 

 

Provision of Ordinance a Contract; Enforceability and Severability; Remedies 

 

 (a) The terms, provisions and conditions set forth in this Ordinance constitute a contract between 

the City and the registered owners of the Warrant and shall remain in effect until the principal of and interest 

on the Warrant shall have been paid in full. 

 

 (b) The provisions of this Ordinance are severable.  In the event that any one or more of such 

provisions or the provisions of the Warrant shall, for any reason, be held illegal or invalid, such illegality or 

invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this Ordinance or of the Warrant, and this Ordinance and the 

Warrant shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid provision had not been contained herein or 

therein. 

 

 (c) The City agrees (i) the registered owners of the Warrant shall have all rights and remedies for 

the enforcement of the Warrant and this Ordinance as may be provided by the laws of the State of Alabama, 

including particularly the Enabling Law, and (ii) the Finance Director (or any successor to the duties and 

functions thereof) of the City is subject to mandamus in the event such officer has money available for 

payment of principal of and interest on the Warrant and does not, as required by this Ordinance, deposit such 

money in the Warrant Fund, when and as required by Section 5.02 of this Ordinance in each Fiscal Year, and 

apply such proceeds (and investment earnings thereon) to the payment of the principal of and interest on the 

Warrant when and as the same become due and payable in each Fiscal Year in amounts sufficient for such 

purposes. 



 

04000125.3 

 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this May 22, 2017. 

 

 

       

 Mayor 

S E A L 

Attest:      

 City Clerk 

 

 



 

04000125.3 

It was moved by Councilmember _______________ that all rules and regulations which, unless 

suspended, would prevent the immediate consideration and adoption of the said ordinance be suspended 

and that unanimous consent to the immediate consideration and adoption of the said ordinance be given.  

The motion was seconded by Councilmember _______________ and on roll call was unanimously adopted, 

those answering aye being: 

 

Ayes: Ashley C. Curry, Mayor 

 Kimberly Cook 

 Paul J. Head 

 George Pierce 

 Rusty Weaver 

 

Nays: None 

 

The Mayor declared the motion unanimously carried. 

 

After said ordinance had been discussed and considered in full by the Council, it was moved by 

Councilmember ____________ that said ordinance be now placed upon its final passage and adopted.  The 

motion was seconded by Councilmember ____________.  The question being put as to the adoption of said 

motion and the final passage and adoption of said ordinance, the roll was called with the following results: 

 

Ayes: Ashley C. Curry, Mayor 

 Kimberly Cook 

 Paul J. Head 

 George Pierce 

 Rusty Weaver 

 

Nays: None 

 

The Mayor thereupon declared said motion carried and the ordinance passed and adopted as 

introduced and read. 

 

 



 

04000125.3 

*     *     *     * 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, it was moved and seconded that the 

meeting be adjourned.  Motion carried. 

Approval of Minutes: 

 

Each of the undersigned does hereby approve, 

and waive notice of, the date, time, place and 

purpose of the meeting of the City Council of 

Vestavia Hills recorded in the above and 

foregoing minutes thereof and does hereby 

approve the form and content of the above and 

foregoing minutes and ordinance therein. 

___________________________________ 

Mayor  

___________________________________ 

Member of the City Council 

___________________________________ 

Member of the City Council 

___________________________________ 

Member of the City Council 

___________________________________ 

Member of the City Council 

S E A L 

Attest:____________________________ 

 City Clerk 



 

04000125.3 

STATE OF ALABAMA ) 

JEFFERSON COUNTY ) 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF CITY CLERK 

 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that (1) I am the duly elected, qualified and acting City Clerk 

of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (the "Municipality"); (2) as Clerk of the Municipality I have access to 

all original records of the Municipality and I am duly authorized to make certified copies of its records on its 

behalf; (3) the above and foregoing pages constitute a complete, verbatim and compared copy of excerpts 

from the minutes of a regular meeting of the City Council of the Municipality duly held on May 22, 2017, 

the original of which is on file and of record in the minute book of the City Council in my custody; (4) the 

ordinance set forth in such excerpts is a complete, verbatim and compared copy of such ordinance as 

introduced and adopted by the City Council on such date; and (5) said ordinance is in full force and effect 

and has not been repealed, amended or changed. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as Clerk of the Municipality and have 

affixed the official seal of the Municipality, this ___________, 2017. 

 

 

_________________________________________ 

Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

SEAL 

  

 



Ordinance Number 2708 

Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER_2708 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE 

CONVEYANCE OF REAL ESTATE LOCATED ADJACENT TO 

VESTAVIA HILLS ELEMENTARY SCHOOL CAHABA 

HEIGHTS, VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA AND AUTHORIZING 

THE CITY MANAGER AND MAYOR TO EXECUTE ALL 

NECESSARY ACTIONS AND DOCUMENTS TO SECURE SAID 

TRANSACTION 

 

 THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2708 is approved and adopted by the City 

Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on this the 22
nd

 day of May, 2017. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-40-1, Code of Alabama, 1975, declares municipalities 

corporate and gives them the power to contract and be contracted with; and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43-56, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City 

Council shall have the management and control of the finances and all of the property, 

real and personal, belonging to the City; and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-47-20, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City 

Council may, by ordinance to be entered in its minutes, direct the disposal of any real 

property not needed for public or municipal purposes and direct the Mayor to make title 

thereto, and a conveyance made by the Mayor in accordance with such ordinance invests 

the grantee with the title of the municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43A-28, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City 

Manager shall be the head of the administrative branch of the government of the City of 

Vestavia Hills and shall be responsible to the City Council for the proper administration 

of all municipal affairs; and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43A-48, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that all contracts 

for the City of Vestavia Hills shall be made and approved by ordinance and signed in the 

name of the City of Vestavia Hills by the mayor and countersigned by the city manager; 

and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that if an 

ordinance is published by posting, then in such event said ordinance shall take effect five 

days thereafter; and 



Ordinance Number 2708 

Page 2 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (“City”) is the owner of real 

property situated in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, which said 

real estate is located adjacent to Vestavia Hills Elementary School Cahaba Heights; and 

 WHEREAS, Phase II of the above referenced property is described in detail in 

Exhibit E and further shown in Exhibit F attached to and incorporated into this Ordinance 

Number 2708 as though written fully therein; and 

 WHEREAS, Phase III of the above referenced property is described in detail in 

Exhibit G and further shown in Exhibit H attached to and incorporated into this 

Ordinance Number 2708 as though written fully therein; and 

 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Board of Education is qualified to do business in 

the State of Alabama (“Purchaser”), has requested that the City declare said property as 

surplus and offer for conveyance to the Purchaser; and 

 WHEREAS, the City finds and determines that it is willing to convey the said 

property to the Vestavia Hills Board of Education pursuant to the terms and conditions 

detailed in an Agreement for Access, Maintenance and Shared Parking Agreement 

(“Agreement”); a copy of which is marked as Exhibit 1A, attached to and incorporated 

into this Ordinance Number 2708 as though written fully therein; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute an 

access, maintenance and shared parking agreement; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama finds and 

determines that the subject property is not needed for municipal or public purposes; and 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 1. The subject property is found and determined to not be needed for public 

or municipal purposes by the City of Vestavia Hills and is hereby declared as surplus 

property all in accordance with the requirements of Title 11-47-20, Code of Alabama, 

1975. 

 2. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to 

execute and deliver all documents required to close said conveyance for and on behalf of 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama pursuant to the terms and conditions as detailed in 

the attached Exhibit 1A; and 



Ordinance Number 2708 

Page 3 

 

 3. A copy of said real estate closing documents will be submitted upon 

closing and kept on file in the Office of the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama for inspection by members of the general public. 

 4. Upon approval, adoption and enactment of this Ordinance Number 2708 

the Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to take any and all legal 

action necessary to close the sale of the subject property all in accordance with the terms, 

provisions and conditions previously described. 

 5. The City Manager is hereby authorized to make editorial revisions that do 

not sustainably change the agreement. 

 6. This Ordinance shall become effective upon its approval, adoption, 

enactment and publication by posting as set forth in Title 11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 

1975. 

 7. If any part, section or subdivision of this Ordinance shall be held 

unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to 

invalidate or impair the remainder of this Ordinance which shall continue in full force 

and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

 DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 22
nd

 day of May, 

2017. 

      CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

 

 

 

      By_________________________________ 

       Ashley C. Curry 

       Mayor 

       

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2708 

Page 4 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATION: 
 

 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2708 is a true and 

correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills on the 22
nd

 day of May, 2017 as same appears in the official records of 

said City. 

 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills New Merkle House, Vestavia 

Hills Civic Center and Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest this the ______ day of 

______________, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Rebecca Leavings 

      City Clerk 

 

 

 



Ordinance 2708 

Exhibit 1A 

 

STATE OF ALABAMA ) 

 

JEFFERSON COUNTY ) 

 

ACCESS, MAINTENANCE  

AND SHARED PARKING AGREEMENT 

 

 THIS ACCESS, MAINTENANCE AND SHARED PARKING AGREEMENT 

(the “Agreement”) is made this ____ day of May, 2017 by and between the Vestavia 

Hills Board of Education, a city board of education in the State of Alabama (“Board”), 

and the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, an Alabama municipal corporation ("City"). 

 

RECITALS: 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board is the owner of certain real property, which is situated in 

Jefferson County, Alabama located at 4401 Dolly Ridge Road, and more particularly 

described on Exhibit A and depicted on Exhibit B (the “VHECH Property”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City is the owner of certain real property adjacent to the VHECH 

Property, which is situated in Jefferson County, Alabama: 

 

a. That property, more particularly described on Exhibit C and depicted on 

Exhibit D upon which recreational fields are currently located (the “City Field 

Property”); 

 

b. That property more particularly described on Exhibit E and depicted on Exhibit 

F upon which is located an access drive to the City Field Property (the “Phase 

2 Property”); 

 

c. That property more particularly described on Exhibit G and depicted on 

Exhibit H, which is currently unimproved (the “Phase 3 Property”). 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has continually used parts of the VHECH Property and 

driveways located thereupon as its sole means of ingress and egress and access to the 

City Field Property and has further utilized parts of the VHECH Property for parking by 

the City, its licensees and invitees in conjunction with use of the City Field Property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Alabama common law recognizes that the City Field Property shall 

never be landlocked and shall always have access to a public road; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board desires to make improvements to Vestavia Hills 

Elementary Cahaba Heights and needs additional property in order to make such 

improvements; and  



Ordinance 2708 

Exhibit 1A 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has offered to convey the Phase 2 Property and the Phase 3 

Property to the Board so that it may make such improvements in return for the paving and 

striping of a portion of the North Access driveway, use of parking to support the City 

Field Property, the continued non-exclusive use of the North Access driveway so that the 

City and its invitees may continue to access the City Field Property from Dolly Ridge 

Road and the other mutual undertakings set forth in this Agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to make such improvements, grant such 

continued access, and perform the other undertakings expressed herein. 

 

  NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the above premises and the 

mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, and for other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the parties agree as 

follows: 

 

 1.    Grant of Access.  Subject to the terms and provisions hereof, 

Board hereby GRANTS unto the City and unto its invitees, employees and 

guests for the benefit of the City Field Property, perpetual, non-exclusive 

and continuous access  to the City Field Property in, over, across, along and 

through the VHECH Property, for the purpose of vehicular and pedestrian 

ingress to and egress from, and access between the City Field Property and 

the streets, roads and alleys abutting the VHECH Property, including 

specifically access to Dolly Ridge Road.  Such access shall be coterminous 

with the driveways and access to the VHECH Property shown on Exhibit I 

and labelled as the “North Access” and the ‘South Access.”  The access 

areas, including both the North Access and the South Access are also 

referred to as the “Driveways” in this Agreement. 

 

 2. Conveyance of Phase 2 Property and Phase 3 Property by 

City to Board. Subject to the terms, conditions and provisions hereof, the 

City agrees to convey to the Board all of its right, title and interest in and to 

the Phase 2 Property and the Phase 3 Property in return for the access, 

improvements, and other undertakings in this Agreement.  Any deed 

conveying title to the Phase 2 Property and the Phase 3 Property shall state 

specifically that such conveyance is subject to the reservations,  terms, 

conditions and provisions of this Agreement and shall reference this 

Agreement specifically. 

 

 3. Improvements by Board.  The Board shall make the 

improvements to the Phase 2 Property and the Phase 3 Property shown on 

the Construction Plan attached as Exhibit J (“Board Improvements”) at its 

own sole cost and expense.  The Board will provide a two-lane roadway 



Ordinance 2708 

Exhibit 1A 

 

connecting the existing pavement at the West end of the North “Board 

Improvements” exhibit to the East end of the North “Board Improvements” 

exhibit in a manner that will allow for continuation of the roadway to 

accommodate the City’s plan for future parking and access to the City Field 

Property. The two-lane roadway will include striping dividing the two lanes 

and will also include striping to accommodate no fewer than 47 parking 

spaces.  The Board will also provide parking for no fewer than 96 parking 

spaces as part of the improvements shown as part of the South “Board 

Improvements” exhibit. It shall be at the Board’s discretion to determine 

how these improvements shall be constructed and they may be modified or 

altered to account for site conditions or other factors arising from final 

design and engineering of these improvements, as long as no fewer than 

143 parking spaces are constructed as part of the Board improvements.   

 

 4. Improvements by City.  The City shall make the 

improvements to the City Field Property, the Phase 2 Property and the 

Phase 3 Property shown on the Construction Plan attached as Exhibit K 

(“City Improvements”) at its own sole cost and expense; provided, 

however, that the improvements labelled as Playground Parking Lot and 

Satellite Parking Lot need not be built.  Such City Improvements will be 

constructed in substantial conformity with Exhibit K but may be modified 

or altered to account for site conditions or other factors arising from final 

design and engineering of those improvements. 

 

 5. Shared Parking Agreement.  The Board hereby establishes 

and GRANTS to City,  its invitees, employees and guests a non-exclusive 

and continuous cross parking license to utilize all Parking Areas and Spaces 

from time to time existing on the VHECH Property and on the Phase 2 

Property and the Phase 3 Property once conveyed. The City hereby 

establishes and GRANTS to the Board, its invitees and employees a non-

exclusive and continuous cross parking license to utilize all Parking Areas 

and Spaces from time to time existing on the City Field Property.  The 

Board shall have the right to install signs on the Parking Areas and Spaces 

stating that parking is restricted during school hours, provided the Board 

will not take any action that interferes with the license hereby granted to the 

City under this Section.  The licenses hereby granted shall remain in full 

force and effect as long as the City owns the City Field Property. 

 

 6.    Use of  Shared Parking Areas.  The Parking Areas, Spaces 

and Driveways lying within the VHECH Property, the Phase 2 Property, 

the Phase 3 Property and the City Field Property  shall at all times be free, 

and no walls, fences or barriers of any sort or kind shall be constructed or 

maintained thereupon, or any portion thereof, which shall prevent or impair 



Ordinance 2708 

Exhibit 1A 

 

their use, or the free access and movement of pedestrian and vehicular 

traffic between the streets adjacent to the VHECH Property and to the City 

Field Property; provided that reasonable traffic controls as may be 

necessary to guide and control the orderly flow of traffic may be installed, 

including but not limited to, speed breakers and bumps, and further 

provided that other restrictions on access by third parties may be imposed 

during times that the City Field Property is not being utilized for 

recreational purposes, so long as no access to driveways across the VHECH 

Property is closed or blocked, except as may be agreed upon by the parties 

hereto.  

 

 7.    Limitations on Use.  The Board may reasonably restrict or 

limit use of the Driveways, Parking Areas or Spaces on the VHECH 

Property by those other than the City or its employees during the times that 

school is in session and students are present, and the City agrees to 

cooperate in enforcement of any such restrictions or limitations; provided, 

however, that no such restrictions whatsoever shall be imposed or adopted 

for that portion of the North Access abutting the property described as Lot 

1, Hollis Crossings as recorded in Map Book 242, Page 64 in the office of 

the Judge of Probate for Jefferson County, Alabama and access to and from 

said Lot 1 over and through the North Access from Dolly Ridge Road shall 

remain free and unencumbered at all times. 

 

 8. Temporary Construction Easements.  The Board and the 

City hereby grant to each other and unto all of their successors, assigns, the 

right to enter the subject properties in order to make the improvements 

required or permitted hereby. 

 

 9.    Maintenance.  The City agrees to maintain in good repair at 

the City’s own expense the North Access  and the Board Improvements 

located thereupon, and all City Improvements wherever located.  The Board 

agrees to maintain in good repair at the Board’s own expense the South 

Access  and all other portions of the VHECH Property, the Phase 2 

Property and the Phase 3 Property, once conveyed, and all Board 

Improvements thereupon.   

 10. Survival and Termination of Agreement.  This Agreement 

for access shall be recorded and shall be a covenant running with the land 

and shall constitute a permanent burden on the Phase 2 Property and the 

Phase 3 Property, burdened by same as defined herein, for the use and 

benefit of the City Field Property.  This Agreement shall inure to the 

benefit of the City and the City only and shall not create any rights for the 



Ordinance 2708 

Exhibit 1A 

 

benefit of third parties or the public.  Further, this Agreement shall be 

binding on the Board and its successors and assigns.   

 

 11. General.   

 

(a) Modifications.  The City and Board, by mutual written agreement, 

may terminate or modify this Agreement; provided that the rights, privileges and 

easements in this Agreement shall continue subject to the other provisions of this 

Agreement, until said written termination or modification has been recorded in the 

Office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama. 
 

(b) Non-Merger.  The ownership at any time during the term of this 

Agreement of the Board Property, or any interest therein, by the same owner or by 

an owner and an affiliate entity of such owner shall not create a merger of title, 

estate, or other merger, including any merger of the dominant and servient estate 

with respect to the easements and other covenants granted in this Agreement and, 

therefore, shall not terminate any of the easements or other agreements contained 

herein, so that all of the terms and provisions hereof shall remain in full force and 

effect for the period provided in this Agreement, regardless of any of the aforesaid 

common ownerships, now or hereafter existing, of any portion of the Board 

Property, the Phase 2 Property or the Phase 3 Property. 

 

(c) Beneficiaries; Ownership and Control.  Nothing contained in this 

Agreement, express or implied shall confer upon any person or entity, other than 

the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns, any rights or remedies 

under or by reason of this Agreement.   
 

  12. General Provisions. 

 

(a) Notices.  Any notices, demands, approvals and other 

communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by 

overnight courier, personal delivery or registered or certified U.S. Mail with return 

receipt requested, postage or other charges paid, to the appropriate party at its 

address as follows:   

 

  If to Board:  

  Vestavia Hills Board of Education 

  c/o its Superintendent 

  1204 Montgomery Highway 

  Birmingham, AL 35216 

 

If to the City:  

City of Vestavia Hills 



Ordinance 2708 

Exhibit 1A 

 

c/o its City Manager 

1032 Montgomery Highway 

Birmingham, AL 35216 

 

Addresses for notice may be changed from time to time by written notice to all 

other parties.  Any communication will be effective (i) if given by mail, upon the 

earlier of (a) three business days following deposit in a post office or other official 

depository under the care and custody of the United States Postal Service or (b) 

actual receipt, as indicated by the return receipt; and (ii) if given by personal 

delivery or by overnight courier, when delivered to the appropriate address. 

 

(b). Rights and Remedies.  Except as expressly set forth herein, it is 

expressly understood and agreed that upon a breach of this Agreement by any 

party, the nonbreaching party shall have any and all rights and remedies for such 

breach at law or in equity, including injunctive relief.   

 

(c). Negation of Partnership or Joint Venture.  None of the terms or 

provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to create a partnership between the 

City and the Board, nor shall it cause them to be considered joint venturers or 

members of any joint enterprise. 

 

(d). Miscellaneous Provisions.  This Agreement shall be interpreted 

according to the laws of the State of Alabama.  This Agreement constitutes the 

entire agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to the subject 

matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements, oral or written, and all other 

communications between the parties relating to such subject matter.  The waiver 

by any party of a breach or violation of any provisions of this Agreement shall not 

operate as, or be construed to be, a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or 

other provision.  In the event any provision of this Agreement is held to be 

unenforceable or invalid for any reason, this Agreement shall remain in full force 

and effect and enforceable in accordance with its terms disregarding such 

unenforceable or invalid provision.  The captions or headings in this Agreement 

are made for convenience and general reference only and should not be construed 

to describe, define or limit the scope and intent of the provisions of this 

Agreement.   

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereby execute this Agreement as of the 

date first above written. 

 “Board:”  



Ordinance 2708 

Exhibit 1A 

 

Vestavia Hills City Board of Education 

By:       

Name: Sheila Phillips                     

Title:  Its Superintendent 

STATE OF ALABAMA ) 

 

COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) 

 

I, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, hereby certify 

that Sheila Phillips, whose name as Superintendent of the Vestavia Hills Board of 

Education, is signed to the foregoing instrument and who is known to me, acknowledged 

before me on this day that, being informed of the contents of the instrument, she, in such 

capacity and with full authority, executed the same for and as the act of said board of 

education. 

Given under my hand and seal this the   day of   , 2017. 

  

 ______________________________________ 

 NOTARY PUBLIC 

 My Commission Expires:__________________   

 

"City:” 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 

ALABAMA 

By:       

 

Name: ___________________________ 

 

Title:  _________, City of Vestavia Hills  

 

 

 

STATE OF ALABAMA ) 

 

COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) 



Ordinance 2708 

Exhibit 1A 

 

 

 

I, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, hereby 

certify that ___________________, whose name as the ___________ of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing instrument 

and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of the 

contents of the instrument, (s)he, in such capacity and with full authority, executed the 

same for and as the act of said municipal corporation. 

Given under my hand and seal this the   day of   , 2017. 

  

 ______________________________________ 

 NOTARY PUBLIC 

 My Commission Expires: _________________ 

 

 













FFE=704.96

F
F
E
=
7
1
3
.6
9

FFE=709.96

FFE=712.46 F
F
E
=
7
1
4
.9
6

FFE=714.96

Sign 

Sign 

+

Fin
.Fl.

=71
2.2

4

B
r
ic

k
 

W
a
ll

+

Conc
. Wall

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

C
h
a
in
 

L
in

k
 

F
e
n
c
e

Gate

Gate

A
s
p
h
a
lt
 

P
a
v
in

g

Asphalt Paving

Asphalt Paving

Conc. Flume

C
o
n
c
. 

R
a

m
p

Con
c. 

Ra
mp

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
ll

B
a
s
e

m
e
n
t

F
in
.F
l.=

7
16
.2

3

Field

Athletic

Field

Athletic

G
r
a
v
e
l

Gravel

Grav
el

G
ra

v
e
l

Conc. Tables

Asphalt

A
s
p
h
a
lt
 
P
a
th

A
s
p
h
a
lt 

P
a
th

Asphalt Path

A
s
p
h
a
lt
 
P
a
th

18
" 

C
urb 

&
 

G
utter

&
 

G
u
t
t
e
r

18
"
 

C
u
r
b

&
 

G
u
t
t
e
r

18
"
 

C
u
r
b

&
 

G
utter

18
" 

C
urb

&
 

G
utter

18
" 

C
urb

&
 

G
u
tt
e
r

18
"
 

C
u
r
b

Tile

Stone

Asphalt

Flag Pole 

Block Wall

Gravel  & Stepping Stones

Block Wall

Stone Wall

Gazebo

Stone Wall

Stone Wall

Stone Steps

Stone Wall

Stone Wall

Conc. Block Wall

Crosstie Wall

Stage & Podium

Wood BenchesGravel

Brick Sign

Asphalt Curb

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

W
IT

H
 

B
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

A
N

D
 

M
E

T
A

L

O
N

E
 

S
T

O
R

Y
 

M
A

S
O

N
R

Y

W
IT

H
 

B
A
S

E
M

E
N

T

O
N

E
 

S
T

O
R

Y
 

B
R
IC

K

M
A

S
O

N
R

Y
 

&
 

M
E

T
A

L

O
N

E
 

S
T

O
R

Y

W.M.

F
in
.F
l.=

7
12
.2

3

A
s
p
h
a
lt
 

P
a
v
in

g

A
s
p
h
a
lt
 
P
a
v
in

g

A
s
p
h
a
lt
 
P
a
v
in

g

A
sphalt 

P
a
ving

L
o
a
d
in

g
 

D
o
c
k

P
a
d

D
u

m
p
s
t
e
r

Conc
. R

amp
Conc

. R
amp

Conc
. Walk

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

Con
cre
te

Con
cre
te

Con
c.

Metal Awning

Metal Awning

B
lo

c
k
 

W
a
ll

Pad

A.C.

Pad

A.C.

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

Conc. Walk

(typical)

Brick Column

(typical)

Brick Column

M
e
t
a
l 

C
a
n
o
p
y

C
o
n
c
. 

R
a

m
p

C
o
v
e
r
e
d
 

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

Walk

Concrete

Stone Wall

Sign Sign 

Sign 

Sign 

ADDITION 

CLASSROOM 

ADDITION 

CLASSROOM 

ADDITION 

CLASSROOM 

2
0

5
.
3

2
3
.
6

1
6

6

B
i
r

m
i
n

g
h
a

m
,
 
A
l
a

b
a

m
a
 

3
5

2
0

5

1
0

0
1
 
2

2
n

d
 

S
t
r
e
e
t
 
S

o
u
t
h

S
u
r
v
e

y
i
n

g

H
i
g

h
 

D
e
f
i
n
i
t
i
o

n

W
a
t
e
r
 
R

e
s
o

u
r
c
e
s

E
n

v
i
r
o

n
m

e
n
t
a
l

S
u
r
v
e

y
i
n

g

C
i
v
i
l

C
o
p
y
ri
g
h
t 
 c
  
2
0
1
7
  

W
a
lt
e
r 
S
c
h
o
e
l 
E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
 C

o
m

p
a
n
y
, 
In

c
.

2
4
5
.3

4
'

S
 
14

°
18
'16

"
 
E

Instrument 200309/3918

Property Conveyed by Warranty Deed

(Map Book 242, Page 64)

HOLLIS CROSSINGS

LOT 3

(Map Book 242, Page 64)

HOLLIS CROSSINGS

LOT 1

(
M
a
p
 

B
o
o
k
 
2
4

2
, 

P
a
g
e
 
6
4
)

H
O

L
L
IS
 

C
R

O
S

S
IN

G
S

L
O

T
 
2

D
O

L
L

Y
 

R
ID

G
E
 

R
O

A
D

Point of Commencement

Sec. 22-T18S-R2W

S.W. 1/4

Northeast Corner

500.62'

N 87°24'56" W

Point of Beginning

g:/16/217/Survey/Exhibit/ S
C

A
L
E
: 
1
" 
=
 6

0
'

D
A

T
E
: 

A
P

R
IL
 5
, 
2
0
1
7

0 60 120 18090

Graphic Scale

P
H

A
S
E
 2
 P

R
O

P
E
R

T
Y

A
T
 C

A
H

A
B

A
 H

E
I G

H
T
S

V
E
S
T
A

V
IA
 H
IL

L
S
 E

L
E

M
E

N
T
A

R
Y
 S

C
H

O
O

L

or 0.649 Acre

28,271 Square Feet

99.26'

N 62°36'03" W

442.23'

S 87°24'56" E

253.95'

N 81°59'33" W

61.55'

N 55°42'53" W

16
8
.0

0
'

N
 
16

°
3
5
'2

2
"
 

W

66
.76
'

S 
73

°2
4'3

8"
 W

Phase 2 Exhibit.dgn 4/5/2017 3:02:37 PM





Sign 

Sign 

Sign Fin
. F
l.=7

26.
11

+

F
in
.F
l.=

7
2
6
.14

+

F
in
.F
l.=

7
3
1.9

6
+

F
in
.F
l.=

7
3
8
.14

+

F
in
.F
l.=

7
2
8
.8

2

+

A.C.

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x
x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

G
r
a
v
e
l

W
ro

u
g
h
t 
Iro

n
 
F
e
n
c
e

G
a
te

Asphalt Paving

A
s
p
h
a
lt 

P
a
v
in
g

G
a
te

C
o
n
c
re
te
 

W
a
lk

P
la
n
te
r

B
lo
c
k

P
la
s
tic
 
E
d
g
in
g

P
la
s
tic
 
E
d
g
in
g

Conc. Curb

C
o
n
c
. 

C
u
rb

Asphalt Paving

Conc
ret

e 
Walk

Blo
ck 

Wall

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
ll

+

F
in
.F
l.=

7
2
6
.14

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

+

G
r
a
v
e
l

Conc
. Wall

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

x

Downspout

A.C.

Conc. Flume

Metal Handrail

C
o
n
c
. 

R
a

m
p

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
ll

B
a
s
e

m
e
n
t

F
in
.F
l.=

7
15
.9

2

Fin
.Fl
.=7

16.
15

+

A
s
p
h
a
lt
 
P
a
th

18" Curb & Gutter

& Gutter

18" Curb

&
 

G
u
tt
e
r

18
"
 

C
u
r
b

&
 

G
u
tt
e
r

18
"
 

C
u
r
b

Gravel  & Stepping Stones

Block Wall

Block Wall

around Trash Can

Wood Fence

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

S
T

O
N
E
 

&
 
F

R
A

M
E

T
W

O
 
S
T

O
R

Y

Sign 

Block Wall

B
lo
c
k
 

W
a
ll

B
lo
c
k
 

W
a
ll

Chain Link FenceC
h
a
in
 
L
in
k
 
F
e
n
c
e

Chain Link Fence

C
h
a
in
 
L
in
k
 
F
e
n
c
e

C
h
a
in
 
L
in
k
 
F
e
n
c
e

Fence

Chain Link

C
h
a
in
 
L
in
k
 
F
e
n
c
e

X

X

XGate

Sign 

In This Area

Playground Equipment

Block Wall

Block Wall

Walk

Stone

Concrete

Sign 

Sign 

ONE 
STORY 

BRIC
K

W
IT

H
 

B
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

A
N

D
 

M
E

T
A

L

O
N

E
 

S
T

O
R

Y
 

M
A

S
O

N
R

Y

WIT
H 

BASEMENT

TWO 
STORY 

BRIC
K

O
N

E
 

S
T

O
R

Y
 

B
R
IC

K

M
A

S
O

N
R

Y
 

&
 

M
E

T
A

L

O
N

E
 

S
T

O
R

Y

Awnin
g

COOLER

Chain Link Fence

Chain Link Fence
Chain Link Fence

P
a
v
in
g

A
sp

ha
lt

Pa
vin

gAsp
hal
tPaving

Asphalt

A
s
p
h
a
lt
 

P
a
v
in

g

A
s
p
h
a
lt
 
P
a
v
in
g

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

Conc
. R

amp

Conc
. R

amp

Conc
. Walk

Conc. Walk

B
lo
c
k
 

W
a
ll

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

Conc
. Walk

Conc
. Walk

C
o
n
c
. 

W
a
lk

A.C.

Chain Link Fence

C
h
a
in
 

L
in

k
 

F
e
n
c
e

Ro
of 

Lin
e

R
o
o
f
 

L
in

e

Brick Wall

Wall

Conc.

Wall

Conc.

Conc. Wall

C
o
n
c
r
e
te

C
o
v
e
r
e
d

FFE=741.47

GYMNASIUM 

608.40'

N 87°23'29" W

3
4

4
.6

0
'

N
 
0
0
°

3
8
'2

4
"
 
E

1
9
7
.0

0
'

S
 
2
°

3
6
'2

1
"
 

W

2
2
9
.0

6
'

S
 
13

°
11'5

7
"
 
E

31.93'

S 73°35'02" E

43.39'

N 84°37'06" E

33.86'

N 78°03'11" E

44.04'

N 74°20'49" E

L
O

T
 
1

L
O

T
 
3

L
O

T
 
4

L
O

T
 
5

LOT 6
LOT 7 LOT 8

LOT 9 LOT 10
LOT 11 LOT 12

(Map Book 45, Page 84)

DOLLY RIDGE ACRES FIRST ADDITION

BLOCK 4

(
M
a
p
 

B
o
o
k
 
4

5
, 

P
a
g
e
 
8
4
)

D
O

L
L

Y
 

R
ID

G
E
 

A
C

R
E

S
 

F
IR

S
T
 

A
D

D
IT
IO

N

B
L

O
C

K
 
4

Point of Beginning

Instrument 200309/3918

Property Conveyed by Warranty Deed

2
0

5
.
3

2
3
.
6

1
6

6

B
i
r

m
i
n

g
h
a

m
,
 
A
l
a

b
a

m
a
 

3
5

2
0

5

1
0

0
1
 
2

2
n

d
 

S
t
r
e
e
t
 
S

o
u
t
h

S
u
r
v
e

y
i
n

g

H
i
g

h
 

D
e
f
i
n
i
t
i
o

n

W
a
t
e
r
 
R

e
s
o

u
r
c
e
s

E
n

v
i
r
o

n
m

e
n
t
a
l

S
u
r
v
e

y
i
n

g

C
i
v
i
l

C
o
p
y
ri
g
h
t 
 c
  
2
0
1
7
  

W
a
lt
e
r 
S
c
h
o
e
l 
E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
 C

o
m

p
a
n
y
, 
In

c
.

g:/16/217/Survey/Exhibit/ S
C

A
L
E
: 
1
" 
=
 6

0
'

D
A

T
E
: 

A
P

R
IL
 5
, 
2
0
1
7

P
H

A
S
E
 3
 P

R
O

P
E
R

T
Y

A
T
 C

A
H

A
B

A
 H

E
IG

H
T
S

V
E
S
T
A

V
IA
 H
IL

L
S
 E

L
E

M
E

N
T
A

R
Y
 S

C
H

O
O

L

or 2.739 Acres

119,330 Square Feet

0 60 120 18090

Graphic Scale

2
3
0
.5

8
'

S
 
3
8
°
4
2
'3

6
"
 
E

15
1.
2
2
'

N
 
4
8
°
2
8
'5
0
" 

E

32.90'

S 53°35'01" E

53.37'

S 42°19'45" E

37.91'

S 8°19'27" E

37.85'

S 25°14'32" E

29.16'

S 10°55'19" W

4.35'

S 53°11'57" E

113
.8

2'

N 
65

°0
2'
25

" 
E

16
9
.5

4
'

N
 
15

°
0
8
'0

5
"
 

W

6
4
.8

9
'

N
 
1
1
°

2
5
'5

5
"
 
E

Phase 3 Exhibit.dgn 4/5/2017 3:07:50 PM









Resolution Number 4950 

Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4950 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO 

ALLOCATE FUNDING WITHIN THE GASOLINE TAX FUND BUDGET 

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2016-2017 IN ORDER TO COVER LANDFILL FEES 

AND HAULING COST 

 

WHEREAS, on August 22, 2016 the City Council adopted and approved Resolution 

Number 4867 adopting a General Fund Budget, a Special Revenue Fund Budget, a Capital 

Project Fund Budget and a Sidewalk Project Fund Budget for the City of Vestavia Hills for fiscal 

year 2016-2017; and 

 WHEREAS, said Special Revenue Fund Budget annually includes approximately 

$20,000 to dispose of material to the landfill; and 

 WHEREAS, the City has not disposed of material for a period of three years; and 

WHEREAS, the City has had numerous large drainage pipe replacement projects, wind 

events with downed trees, and other various projects that have contributed to a high volume of 

material to be accumulated; and 

 WHEREAS, said recent clearing expenses exceeded the allocated budget expense; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager and Finance Director has examined said budget and 

recommended the allocation of funding from the Special Revenue Budget to cover the expense 

of the landfill fees and hauling costs; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed the recommendation and find it 

is in the best public interest to approve that the City Manager allocate funding within the budget 

in order to cover the expense of the landfill fees and hauling costs. 

 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to fund the landfill fees and hauling costs from 

Special Revenue Fund Account 07 – Gasoline Tax in the amount of $70,800; and 

2. This Resolution Number 4950 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12
th

 day of June, 2017. 

 

 

 



Resolution Number 4950 

Page 2 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 





Resolution 4951 

Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4951 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY MANAGER 

TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER A CONTRACT FOR THE 

IMPLEMENTATION STAGE OF THE COMMUNITY SPACES PLAN 

FOR A PROGRAM MANAGER 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills is entering the implementation stage of its 

Community Spaces Plan and there is a need for a program manager to lead the program 

validation/prioritization, pre-construction and construction phases of this effort; and 

 WHEREAS, the City held a competitive selection process to select said program 

manager; and 

 WHEREAS, the request for proposals included a defined scope of work that is attached 

as exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has selected TCU Consulting Services, LLC as the 

Community Spaces Plan Program Manager whose contract is attached as exhibit B; and 

 WHEREAS, said contract is divided into three phases of work, each requiring successful 

completion of the previous stage to include City Council approved funding for the next phase of 

work to proceed; and 

 WHEREAS, Phase One will require additional architectural, engineering and operational 

planning services outside of the contract with TCU; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager and Finance Director has examined said budget and 

recommended the allocation of funding from the Capital Project Fund and General Obligations 

Warrants Fund to cover the expense of Phase One Services, Phase Two Services, and Phase 

Three Services, and additional funding and services during Phase One for Architectural, Civil 

Engineering, and Operational Planning; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed the recommendation and find it 

is in the best public interest to approve that the City Manager allocate funding within the budget 

in order to cover the expense of Phase One Services, Phase Two Services, and Phase Three 

Services, and additional funding and services during Phase One for Architectural, Civil 

Engineering, and Operational Planning. 

 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 



Resolution 4951 

Page 2 

 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute the attached contract with TCU 

Consulting Services, LLC for the following contract amounts from the Capital Project 

Fund and General Obligations Warrants Fund: 

a. Phase One Services $120,000 

b. Phase Two Services $373,650 

c. Phase Three Services $1,002,000 

2. Furthermore, the following allowance for additional funding and services during Phase 

One are authorized up to and not exceeding the stated collective amounts from the 

Capital Project Fund and General Obligations Warrants Fund: 

a. Architectural  $8,500 

b. Civil Engineering $4,500 

c. Operational Planning $26,000 

3. This Resolution Number 4951 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 12
th

 day of June, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 











Comm

Requ
Servi
 

Key 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Purp
The Ci
firms w
Spaces
http://
throug
bank p

Restr
From t
respon
with an
instruc
the righ
 

Inten
All rec
of inte
Vestav
will be
 

RFP C

munity Sp

uest for Pro
ices Assoc

Dates 
RFP RELE
INTENT T
PRE-PROP

o Ves
INQUIRIE
PROPOSA

pose 
ity of Vestavia
willing to prov
s Master Plan. 
/bit.ly/Comm
gh a yet to be d
placement of a

triction of
the issue date 

ndents to this R
ny member of
cted herein.  If
ht to reject th

nt to Resp
cipients of this
nt in writing b

via Hills, Alaba
 made to resp

Capital Project P

aces Plan I

oposals for
iated with 

EASE DATE: 
TO RESPOND
POSAL BRIE
stavia Hills Ci

ES RELATED
ALS DUE: Ma

a Hills is reque
vide program 
 Information

munitySpacesP
determined ca
approximately

f Commu
of this RFP u
RFP are not a
f the City Cou
f a responden

he respondent’

pond 
s RFP who int
by March 10, 2
ama 35216 or 

pondents upon

Program Manag

 

Implement

r Capital Pr
the Comm

March 1, 201
D DEADLIN

EFING AND 
ity Council Ch

D TO THE RF
rch 31, 2017

esting propos
management 
 on the maste

Plan . The new
apital finance p
y $50mm. 

unication
until responde
allowed to com
uncil or City st
t is found in v
’s submission.

tend on subm
2017, to Jeff D
electronically

n receipt of no

gement Services, 

tation 

rojects Pro
munity Spa

7 
NE: March 10,

MEETING: M
hambers, 10am
FP: March 24,

als from capit
services assoc

er plan and bu
w capital projec
plan that migh

ents are selecte
mmunicate the
taff, except fo
violation of th
  

mitting a respon
Downes at 10
y to jdownes@
otice of intent

released March 

 

ogram Man
ces Plan 

, 2017 
March 17, 201

m (1032 Mont
, 2017 

tal project pro
ciated with its 
dget can be fo
cts will be fun
ht include a bo

ed and notified
eir proposal o
r submission 

his provision, t

nse must prov
32 Montgome

@vhal.org. Aff
t to respond. 

1, 2017, Page 1

nagement 

17 
tgomery Hwy)

ogram manage
Community 

ound at 
nded by the  C
ond issuance o

d by the City, 
or discuss the R
of questions a
the City reserv

vide a notificat
ery Highway, 
firmative respo

1 of 10 

) 

ement 

City 
or 

RFP 
as 
ves 

tion 

onse 



RFP Capital Project Program Management Services, released March 1, 2017, Page 2 of 10 

Respondents providing notification they intend to respond will be provided with any 
addendum, answers to inquiries, etc. pertaining to this RFP.  Those respondents who do not 
provide a notification that they intend to respond to the RFP will not be allowed to present a 
proposal for services.  
 

Schedule and Delivery of Proposals 
Responses must be delivered to the Office of the City Manager, 2nd Floor, Vestavia Hills 
City Hall, 1032 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 no later than March 31, 
2017,  at 4:00PM Central Time.  Late submissions will not be accepted.   
 
Please send one (1) printed copy and one (1) electronic copy (in PDF) via email to 
jdownes@vhal.org 

Inquiries Related to RFP 
Telephone inquiries with questions regarding clarification of any aspect of the RFP will not 
be accepted.  All questions must be written and emailed to the City Manager at 
jdownes@vhal.org no later than 5PM Central Time on March 24, 2017.  
 

General Requirements 
 
1. Applicable Law.  Any contract entered into as a result of this RFP shall be governed and 

interpreted under the laws of the State of Alabama. 
 

2. Duration of Response.  Compensation fee quotes from all respondents must be valid up 
to sixty (60) days from the date of the RFP due date.  The respondent’s fee quote 
selected under this RFP must be valid until successful completion of all capital projects. 
 

3. Contract Review.  Any professional services contract resulting from this RFP will  be 
subject to review by the City and its attorney. Draft contracts are encouraged as a part of 
submitted proposals 
 

4. Diversity/Equal Opportunity.  The City considers all proposals without reference to 
race, gender, cultural, ethnic, or other characteristics of the respondent or employees of 
the respondent.   
 

5. Additional.  The selected firm must be qualified to do business in the State of Alabama 
and any local jurisdiction within which the contract will be performed.  

Scope of Services 
The selected firm will be expected to perform all normal and customary services associated 
with capital project program management.  These services will include but not be limited to 
the scope of work established below:   
 



RFP Capital Project Program Management Services, released March 1, 2017, Page 3 of 10 

 

 

Phase One Scope (Anticipated time frame: Three Months) 
  Program Budget Validation and Execution Strategy 
 

Goal: The City’s “Community Spaces Master Plan” effort has effectively identified the needs 
and ideas for public spaces throughout the City based upon master plan input. The specific 
packaging/bundling of the various components from the Master Plan may or may not be in 
the most ideal grouping for effective execution based upon several factors such as location, 
timing restrictions, phasing needs, budget availability, funding mechanisms, community 
needs, etc. The goal of this phase is for the program manager to work with the City to 
develop the most effective and beneficial strategy for executing this group of projects over a 
multi-year period. This phase is meant to be a collaborative effort with various City 
representatives to develop the most ideal strategy given all factors. 
 
Potential Project Components: (This list is not all inclusive. Other small components not 
listed are included in the master plan document) 

1. Multi-Purpose Recreational Facility at Wald Park 
2. Premier Green Space at Wald Park 
3. Acquisition and Renovation of Gold’s Gym Facility 
4. Rehabilitation of Cahaba Heights Ballfield Complex 
5. Development of the Old Altadena Valley Country Club Property 
6. Redevelopment of the City’s Swimming Facility at Wald Park 
7. Wald Park Ballfield Improvements 

 
Overall Program Budget Validation: 
 Develop a master program budget inclusive of all projects. 
 Provide detailed conceptual estimates for each project. 

 
Phasing Plan: 
 Develop a preliminary comprehensive phasing and priority plan for each project. 

 
Overall Master Schedule: 
 Develop an overall master schedule for overall program 
 Develop individual project schedules, based on priority 
 

Recommendation Regarding Phase One Design Services Scope and Budget 
 Recommend the appropriate level of design services to assist in program validation 

and study as a part of the Phase One activities. 
 

Cash Flow: 
 Develop a funding distribution analysis to support funding and investment strategies 

 
Public Meetings: 
 Represent and support the City of Vestavia Hills in all public work sessions and City 

Council meetings, as it relates to The Community Spaces Plan. 
 

Refinement of Program Vision and Coordination with Stakeholders 



RFP Capital Project Program Management Services, released March 1, 2017, Page 4 of 10 

 Meet with stakeholders of the Community Spaces Plan to include the “steering 
committee” to provide guidance in program refinements. 

 

Phase Two Scope (Anticipated Time Frame: Six to twelve 
months) 

  Pre-Construction Phase 
  

Goal: The goal of this phase is to manage the multiple projects throughout the City 
as identified in phase one through the design and bidding phase as the City’s 
representative. The timing of this phase is anticipated to be six to twelve months but 
may take a longer period as determined in the outcome of phase one, and the 
management effort needed may vary at times based upon the selected strategy. An 
important task in this phase includes the cost estimating expectations at the 
schematic design completion, design development completion, and during the 
construction document phase (50% and 100%). As with all phases, it is the City’s 
intent that these efforts involve collaboration with all stakeholders- internal and 
external to the City. 
 
Pre-Design Phase Program Management: 
 
 Develop a Management Plan for the Overall Program.  
 
 Assist City of Vestavia Hills in acquiring any design services needed for the program. 
 
 Assist City of Vestavia Hills in review and preparation of the Agreement between City of 
Vestavia Hills and Designer. 
 
 Prepare a Master Schedule for the Overall Program.  
 
 Prepare a preliminary budget based on the separate projects required for the Program.  
 
 Prepare a cost analysis of various design and construction alternatives.  
 
 Develop and implement an information system in order to establish communication 
between City of Vestavia Hills, Program Manager, Designer, Contractors and other parties 
involved with the Program.  
 
Design Phase Program Management: 
 
 Organize, lead, and document project meetings during the Design Phase of each project. 
 
 Continuous monitoring of Designer’s compliance with the Management Plan, Master 
Schedule, and Budget. 
 
 Review the design documents and make recommendations as to constructability, 
scheduling, and time of construction; as to clarity, consistency, and coordination of 
documentation among Contractors; and as to the separation of the Projects into contracts 



RFP Capital Project Program Management Services, released March 1, 2017, Page 5 of 10 

for various categories of the Work. 
 
 Coordinate documents with regulatory agencies for review and advise of potential 
problems and suggested solutions regarding completion of such reviews. 
 
 Prepare general and supplemental conditions for the construction contracts and for 
materials or equipment procurement contracts for the projects, and  provide them to 
designer for inclusion in the design documents. 
 
 Assist City of Vestavia Hills in preparing documents concerning the budget for use in 
obtaining or reporting on program funding.  
 
 Overall management of the master schedule during the design phase. 
 
 Prepare a Pre-Bid Construction Schedule for each part of the Program and make the 
schedule available to the bidders during the Bid and Award Phase of the Projects. 
 
 Develop an estimate of the overall project and construction cost for each portion of the 
Program that will be submitted for proposals or bids by potential contractor. 
 
 Provide value engineering studies on major construction components. 
 
     
Bid and Award Phase Program Management: 
 
 Lead effort in developing lists of possible proposers or bidders and in prequalifying 
proposers or bidders. This service shall include preparation and distribution of 
questionnaires; receiving and analyzing completed questionnaires; interviewing possible 
proposers or bidders, bonding agents and financial institutions; and preparing 
recommendations for City of Vestavia Hills. Program Manager shall prepare a list of 
proposers or bidders for each bid package. 
 
 Conduct a campaign to increase interest among proposers or qualified bidders. 
 
 Assist architect and City of Vestavia Hills in preparing and placing notices and 
advertisements to solicit proposals or bids for all projects within the Program. 
 
 Lead and conduct all Pre-Bid Conferences. These conferences shall be forums for City of 
Vestavia Hills, Program Manager, and Designer to explain the Program requirements to the 
proposers or bidders, including information concerning schedule requirements, time and 
cost control requirements, access requirements, City of Vestavia Hills’s administrative 
requirements and technical information. 
 
 Develop and coordinate procedures to provide answers to proposers’ or bidders’ 
questions.  
 
 Review Addenda issued by designers for constructability, for effect on the budget, 
scheduling and time of construction, and for clarity and coordination in documentation.  
 



RFP Capital Project Program Management Services, released March 1, 2017, Page 6 of 10 

 In coordination with the City of Vestavia Hills, lead the process of the assembly, delivery 
and execution of the Contract Documents. Program Manager shall issue to Prime 
Contractor on behalf of City of Vestavia Hills the Notice of Award and the Notice to 
Proceed. 
 
 Overall management of the master schedule during the bid and award phase. 
 
 Prepare an estimate of costs for all Addenda  
 
 Provide a thorough evaluation of all the bids for responsiveness and pricing, including 
alternate bid prices and unit prices, and make a recommendation to City of Vestavia Hills 
regarding the award of the construction contract. 
 
 Develop Cash Flow Reports during the Bid and Award Phase. The Reports shall be based 
on actual contract award prices and estimated other construction costs for the duration of 
the Program. 
 

 

Phase Three Scope (Anticipated Time Frame: 24 months) 
  Construction Phase 
 

Goal: The goal of phase three is for the program manager to serve as the City’s 
representative to ensure the various projects get constructed in an efficient and 
efficient manner (on time and in budget). Particular emphasis and leadership should 
be given by the program management firm in adhering to the entire program budget 
for all projects including hard and soft costs of construction. 
 
 
Construction Phase Program Management: 
 
 Lead a Pre-Construction Conference with each Prime Contractor and review the 
Program/ Project staffing, scheduling reporting procedures, rules, and all other pertinent 
issues. 
 
 Verify that the required permits, bonds, and insurance, have been obtained by contractor. 
   
 Establish and implement procedures for reviewing and processing requests for 
clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents; shop drawings, samples and 
other submittals; schedule adjustments; change order proposals; written proposals for 
substitutions; payment applications; and the maintenance of logs. As City of Vestavia Hills’s 
representative, Program Manager shall be the party to whom all such information shall be 
submitted. 
 
 Examine Contractor’s requests for information, shop drawings, samples, and other 
submittals to determine the anticipated effect on the Program requirements, the Budget, 
and the Master Schedule. 
 
 Program manager is to lead meetings at the appropriate sites with each contractor, and as 
appropriate shall conduct coordination meetings with contractors, City of Vestavia Hills 



RFP Capital Project Program Management Services, released March 1, 2017, Page 7 of 10 

and Designers.  
 
 Program manager is to prepare and distribute meeting minutes for all meetings associated 
with the projects and distributing them to all the appropriate parties.   
 
 Coordinate all technical inspection and testing provided by others and distribute all 
inspection and testing reports to appropriate parties.  
 
 Establish and implement a change order control system.  
 
 Review the contents of all contractor-requested changes to the Contract Time or Price, 
endeavor to determine the root cause of the request, and assemble and evaluate information 
concerning the request. Make recommendations to City of Vestavia Hills regarding all 
proposed change orders. At City of Vestavia Hills direction, Program Manager is to prepare 
and issue to Prime Contractor appropriate change order documents.  
 
 Establish and implement a program to monitor the quality of the construction. The 
purpose of the program shall be to assist in guarding the City of Vestavia Hills against 
Work by Contractors that does not conform to the requirements of the Contract 
Documents.  
 
 Require and coordinate with each contractor that will perform work at the sites to prepare 
and submit a safety program, as required by the Contract Documents. 
 
 Coordinate with contractors to receive operation and maintenance manuals, warranties 
and guarantees for materials and equipment installed in the Program. 
 
 In consultation with Designer, Program manager will, prior to issuing a Certificate of 
Substantial Completion, prepare a list of incomplete work or work which does not conform 
to the requirements of the Contract Documents.  
 
 As appropriate, Program manager, in consultation with Designer, shall review the work 
and recommend to City of Vestavia Hills when the contractor’s work is substantially 
complete.  
 
 In consultation with Designer, Program Manager shall determine when the Program and 
contractor’s work is finally completed, shall Issue a Certificate of Final Completion and 
shall provide to City of Vestavia Hills a written recommendation regarding payment to 
Contractors. 
 
 Provide a thorough review of all contractor’s construction schedules and shall verify that 
the schedule is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the contract documents 
and that it establishes completion dates that comply with the requirements of the master 
schedule. 
 
 At a minimum, on a monthly basis, review the progress of construction schedule by each 
contractor, evaluate the percentage complete of each construction activity and shall review 
such percentages with each contractor.  
 



RFP Capital Project Program Management Services, released March 1, 2017, Page 8 of 10 

 Work with contractors to determine a schedule of values for the construction contract. 
The schedule of values will serve as the basis for the allocation of the total contract price to 
the activities shown on contractor’s construction schedule. 
 
 Advise City of Vestavia Hills as to the effect on the Budget of all proposed and approved 
change orders. 
 
 Review the payment applications submitted by the contractors and determine whether the 
amount requested reflects the progress of contractor’s work.  
   
Post-Construction Phase Program Management: 
 
 Coordinate and expedite submittals of information from contractors for preparation of 
record (“as-built”) drawings and specifications.  Provide all final copies to the City of 
Vestavia Hills. 
 
 Prior to the Final Completion of the Program, compile manufacturers’ operations and 
maintenance manuals, warranties and guarantees, and certificates, and index and bind such 
documents in an organized manner. This information shall then be provided to City of 
Vestavia Hills. 
 
 Represent the City of Vestavia Hills in obtaining an Occupancy Permit by coordinating 
final testing, preparing and submitting documentation to governmental agencies, and 
accompanying governmental officials during inspections of the Program. 
 
 Work with all project partners during the Post-Construction Phase and finalize all 
program related change orders. 
 
 Work with City of Vestavia Hills to manage warranty issues for a twelve month period 

post-construction of each project 
   
Overall Program Management  
 
 Provide overall management of the program master schedule and budget throughout all 
phases. 
 
 Monthly reports inclusive of schedule, program costs, budget updates, cash flow reports, 
important items of action, and an overall report of general progress on the overall program. 
 
 Provide recommendations on computer project management software system that is 
utilized by the City of Vestavia Hills, contractors, designers, and program manager to 
coordinate all program documentation and communication.  Include cost of such program 
in proposal. 
 
 Throughout the program provide accounting support to record and document all 
program related costs and provide monthly reports to City of Vestavia Hills.  At the 
conclusion of the program, prepare and deliver to the City of Vestavia Hills a final 
accounting report for the program.  
 



RFP Capital Project Program Management Services, released March 1, 2017, Page 9 of 10 

 Provide and maintain a management team for all projects within the Program and provide 
preconstruction and program management services as an agent of City of Vestavia Hills and 
establish and implement coordination and communication procedures among all parties.  
Management team, at a minimum, shall include staffing that will include preconstruction 
and project management professionals as wells as field management during the construction 
phase to monitor daily field inspections and observation of contractor’s progress, quality, 
and safety. 
 
 Provide personnel that will represent and support the City of Vestavia Hills in all public 
work session, City Council meetings, and any other meetings required by the city, as it 
relates to The Community Spaces Plan. 
 
 

Scope of Services 
Please limit your response to ten (10) pages or less; exclusive of transmittal letters or 
appendices.  
 
Responses should be arranged in the following format:   
1. Transmittal letter. 

 
2. Staffing and General Information.  Please provide firm information, including the name 

and address of your firm, address and telephone number for the firm’s primary office 
responding to the RFP.  Please provide an overview of staff that will be working with 
the City to include project leader, staffing approach/reasoning, and amount of staff 
dedicated to each phase of the project. 
 

3. E-Verify Memorandum of Understanding.  To be eligible as a vendor for the City of 
Vestavia Hills, the E-Verify MOU is required as documentation of compliance with the 
Beason-Hammon Taxpayer Relief and Citizen Protection Act.  
 

4. Alabama Experience/ Presence.  Please provide an overview of your firm’s Alabama 
experience over the last five years, highlighting capital project management experience 
for Alabama local governments during this period.  
 

5. Project Management.  Discuss your firm’s approach to managing a $50mm project that 
is estimated to take multiple years to finish.  Address any savings, scheduling or quality 
issues that your firm will be able to enhance through the different phases of the project 
along with how your firm will manage to bring it in on time and at or below budget.  
 

6. Conflicts of Interest.  Describe any conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest 
that may arise as a result of your firm being hired.  
 

7. References.  Provide three references for the day-to-day contact(s) assigned to the City’s 
projects. 
 

8. Fees/compensation.  The City reserves the right to negotiate compensation at or below 
any amount set forth in the proposal.  Enclosed are outlines of the minimum 
requirements for the scope of services according to project phase.  With said scope in 
mind, please list your firm’s proposed fees/compensation by phase according to the 
following: 



RFP Capital Project Program Management Services, released March 1, 2017, Page 10 of 10 

a. Phase One and Two Scope, Establish a detailed budget of fees to include an 
amount of the fee that will not exceed a stated budget figure with any 
stipulations to said fee. 

b. Phase Three Scope, Establish a fee budget based upon a projected program 
budget of $50mm subject to a minimum/maximum range of fees based upon 
said construction budget subject to adjustment upon final contract construction 
values. 

c. The City of Vestavia Hills reserves the right to adjust the Phase Three budget at 
the completion of Phase One and/or Two. 

 
9. Selection Criteria: Proposals will be reviewed by evaluators made up of elected and non-

elected officials of the City of Vestavia Hills. The evaluation process may include 
interviews and will be evaluated based upon (but not be limited to) experience, 
responsiveness to the RFP, cost, knowledge of the project areas and building climate in 
Vestavia Hills, and specific personnel assigned to the project. Ultimately, the Vestavia 
Hills City Council will be the decision maker for any program management contract. 

 
 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

VESTAVIA HILLS 

A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FOR COMMUNITY SPACES 
 
November 2016 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

VESTAVIA HILLS 

A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FOR COMMUNITY SPACES 
 
November 2016 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

Summary 
 
1. Community Spaces – Comprehensive Overview 

 

2. Wald Park – Master Plan Development 
A. Site Development Option 1 

B. Site Development Option 2 

 

3. Recreation Center Development 
A. Multipurpose Center Option 1 

B. Multipurpose Center Option 2 

C. Multipurpose Center Option 3 

 

4. Community Center Development 

 

5. Preliminary Budget 

 

6. Appendix 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

LIBERTY PARK/ 
SICARD HOLLOW 
ATHLETICS COMPLEX CAHABA 

HEIGHTS 

LIBERTY 
PARK 

ALTADENA 

CAHABA HEIGHTS 
FIELDS 

ALTADENA VALLEY PARK 

WALD PARK 

FORMER 
BERRY 
SCHOOL 

CITY HALL 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

2015 Recreation & Athletics Master Plan  
 
 Recreation & Athletics Master Plan 

competed in August of 2015 

 

 Recommendations: 

 Re-position quality of life assets 

 Elevate the quality of existing 

facilities 

 Increase the capacity of City 

athletic facilities 

 

 Facilities Master Plan builds on the 

foundation set by the City-wide 

 Recreation and Athletics Master Plan 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

2016 Planning Committee Recommendations 

at Cahaba Heights Fields 
Space / Site Planning and Infrastructure Assessment 

 

 Consultants Retained – Brailsford & Dunlavey, Caprine Engineering, HNP 
 Geotechnical Study – in progress 
 Conceptual Layout & Design – in progress 

 
o Rotate/Re-order field for optimal space 

o Drainage improvements 

o Parking needs 

o Building and Restroom upgrades 

o Potential Construction of “Miracle Field” for 

o Special Needs Players. 

o Upgrades/Improvements to New Merkel  

 House 

 Construction – To Be Determined 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

2016 Planning Committee Recommendations 

at Altadena Valley Park 
 
 

 Land for Park previously 

   acquired at No Cost – Complete 

 Conceptual Park Design – Initial design under consideration by City 

 Additional Land Acquired for 

   Western Entrance – Complete 

 Design for Construction of 

   Western Entrance – Complete 

 Planning and Design of Park – 

   To Be Determined 

 Construction – To Be Determined 

 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

2016 Planning Committee Recommendations 

at Altadena Valley Park 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

 Add covered hitting area(s) 

    at girls softball fields 

 Upgrade/relocate playground at 

    girls softball fields 

 Upgrade restrooms at 

    softball/baseball fields 

 Potential construction of “Miracle Field” 

    for special needs player games/functions 

2016 Planning Committee Recommendations 

at Liberty Park 

 Potential Athletic Improvements 

    To Be Determined 

at Former Berry School 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

 New Multi-purpose Recreation 

    facility 

 New Pool facility 

 New premier Green space and 

    Play Area improvements 

 Rehabilitate tennis facilities 

 Youth sports field improvements w/ artificial turf installation 

 Upgrades / improvements to Concession Stand and Press boxes 

 Construct covered batting areas with lighting 

 Preserve walking / jogging track and improve where necessary 

 New Walking paths in premier green space and pedestrian connectivity 

between City Hall and Wald Park 

2016 Planning Committee Recommendations 

at Wald Park 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

2. Wald Park 

Master Plan Development 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

EXISTING SITE PLAN 
WALD PARK AREA 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

LODGE 

CIVIC  

CENTER 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

EX. 

FIELD 

POOL 

TENNIS 

PARKING 

PARKING 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

OPTION 1 
SITE DEVELOPMENT OPTIONS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 1 1 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

CIVIC  

CENTER 
MULTI-

PURPOSE 

PARK 

PLAYGROUND 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 1 1 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 
CIVIC  

CENTER 

MULTI-

PURPOSE 

PARK 

• Resurface all fields with artificial turf 
• Expand Field 1 and improve drainage 
• Construct 2 new covered batting cages 
• Improve press box/concessions 

building 
• Increase parking  
• Exchange Field relocated to Altadena,   
       Liberty Park or Former Berry School 
 

PLAYGROUND 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 1 1 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

CIVIC  

CENTER 
MULTI-

PURPOSE 

PARK 

PLAYGROUND 

• Relocate Maintenance Building and staff parking 
• Relocate Lodge functions to Multi-Purpose Center 
• Create additional parking 
• Remove upper tennis courts 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 1 1 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

CIVIC  

CENTER 
MULTI-

PURPOSE 

PARK 

• Create premier park with 
passive green space, open 
fields, and walking paths 

• Improve play areas 
• Improve school and park entry 

as combined road 
• Additional parking at VH West 

Elementary School and near 
Premier Park 

PLAYGROUND 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

GREEN SPACE 

PLAYGROUND 

OLD 

SKATE 

AREA 

HOMEWOOD CENTRAL PARK 

GREEN SPACE COMPARISON 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

GREEN SPACE 

PLAYGROUND 

OLD 

SKATE 

AREA 

HOMEWOOD CENTRAL PARK 

GREEN SPACE COMPARISON 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 1 1 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

CIVIC  

CENTER 
MULTI-

PURPOSE 

PARK 

• Relocate Exchange Field to off-site location 
• Expand parking at VH Elementary School 
• No change assumed for BOE or Civic Center 
• Improve school and park entry as combined road 

PLAYGROUND 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 1 1 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

CIVIC  

CENTER 
MULTI-

PURPOSE 

PARK 

PLAYGROUND 

• New Multi-Purpose Center 
• 3 basketball/multi-use courts 
• Locker rooms 
• Concessions 
• Multi-purpose rooms 
• Wet zone for aquatic concessions and 

bathrooms 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 1 1 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

CIVIC  

CENTER 
MULTI-

PURPOSE 

PARK 

PLAYGROUND 

• New Wald Park Pool 
• Add pool amenities 
• Deck improvements 
• Update amenities to include new locker rooms and 

concessions in Multi-Purpose Center 
• Rehabilitate 4 existing tennis courts 
• Construct additional tennis court with lighting and seating 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE AERIAL 
OPTION 1 – VIEW LOOKING EAST  1 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

MULTI-

PURPOSE 

TENNIS 

BOE 

CIVIC  

CENTER 

PARK 

PARK 

MAINT. 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE AERIAL  
OPTION 1 – VIEW LOOKING WEST 1 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

MULTI-

PURPOSE 

TENNIS 

BOE 

CIVIC  

CENTER 

PARK 

PARK 

MAINT. 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

OPTION 2 
SITE DEVELOPMENT OPTIONS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

EXISTING SITE PLAN 
WALD PARK AREA 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

LODGE 

CIVIC  

CENTER 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

EX. 

FIELD 

POOL 

TENNIS 

PARKING 

PARKING 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 2 2 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 
CIVIC  

CENTER MULTI-

PURPOSE 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 2 2 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 
CIVIC  

CENTER MULTI-

PURPOSE 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

• Relocate Exchange Field to off-site location 
• Expand parking at VH West Elementary School 
• No change assumed for BOE or Civic Center 
• School and park entry remain separate 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 2 2 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

BOE 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 
CIVIC  

CENTER MULTI-

PURPOSE 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

• Create premier park with 
passive green space, open 
fields, and walking paths 
 

• Switchback trails for more 
challenges 
 

• Pedestrian gateway from City 
Hall and new Community 
Center to Wald Park 
 

• Improve play areas  
 

• Additional parking at VH West 
Elementary School and near 
Premier Park 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PLAY AREA  
BRIDGING CONTOUR CHANGE 
WITH TOWERS AND “LAND 
SLIDES” 

FIELD AREA 

FIELD AREA 

WOODED 
SWITCH 

BACK AREA 

SCHOOL PARKING AREA 

PARKING AREA 

TERRACED PICNIC AREAS 

CASTLE PARK 
REMINISCE  

BALL FIELDS  

PREMIER PARK SKETCH  
ACCESS AND CONTOUR IDEAS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PLAY AREA  
BRIDGING CONTOUR CHANGE 
WITH TOWERS AND “LAND 
SLIDES” 

FIELD AREA 

FIELD AREA 

SCHOOL PARKING AREA 

PARKING AREA 

BALL FIELDS  

PREMIER PARK SKETCH  
ACCESS AND CONTOUR IDEAS 

WOODED 
SWITCH 

BACK AREA 

TERRACED PICNIC AREAS 

CASTLE PARK 
REMINISCE  



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PLAYGROUND INSPIRATION – GROUND ELEMENTS  

USE OF GRADE CHANGE AS AN ASSET WITH LONG SLIDES AND BRIDGES TO TOWER ELEMENTS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PLAYGROUND INSPIRATION – GROUND ELEMENTS  

USE OF GRADE CHANGE AS AN ASSET WITH LONG SLIDES AND BRIDGES TO TOWER ELEMENTS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PLAYGROUND INSPIRATION – GROUND ELEMENTS  

USE OF GRADE CHANGE AS AN ASSET WITH LONG SLIDES AND BRIDGES TO TOWER ELEMENTS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PLAY AREA  
BRIDGING CONTOUR CHANGE 
WITH TOWERS AND “LAND 
SLIDES” 

FIELD AREA 

FIELD AREA 

SCHOOL PARKING AREA 

PARKING AREA 

TERRACED PICNIC AREAS 

CASTLE PARK 
REMINISCE  

BALL FIELDS  

PREMIER PARK SKETCH  
ACCESS AND CONTOUR IDEAS 

WOODED 
SWITCH 

BACK AREA 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

FIELD AREA 

FIELD AREA 

SCHOOL PARKING AREA 

PARKING AREA 

CASTLE PARK 
REMINISCE  

BALL FIELDS  

PREMIER PARK SKETCH  
ACCESS AND CONTOUR IDEAS 

WOODED 
SWITCH 

BACK AREA 

TERRACED PICNIC AREAS 

PLAY AREA  
BRIDGING CONTOUR CHANGE 
WITH TOWERS AND “LAND 
SLIDES” 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PLAYGROUND INSPIRATION – GROUND ELEMENTS  

USE OF GRADE CHANGE AS AN ASSET WITH LONG SLIDES AND BRIDGES TO TOWER ELEMENTS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PLAYGROUND INSPIRATION – GROUND ELEMENTS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 2 – AERIAL VIEW LOOKING EAST  2 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

TENNIS 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

MULTI-

PURPOSE 

TENNIS 

BOE 

CIVIC  

CENTER 

PARK 

PARK 

MAINT. 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 2 – AERIAL VIEW LOOKING EAST  2 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 
TENNIS 

VH ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

MULTI-

PURPOSE 

TENNIS 

BOE 

CIVIC  

CENTER 

PARK 

PARK 

MAINT. 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

Site Development Options 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F2 

F3 

POOL 

BOE 

VH 

ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

CIVIC  

CENTER 

MULTI-

PURPOSE 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

PARK 

MAINT. 

TENNIS 

PLAYGROUND 

F4 

F1 

F3 

POOL 

BOE 

VH 

ELEM. 

SCHOOL 

CIVIC  

CENTER 

MULTI-

PURPOSE 

EXPANDED 

SCHOOL 

PARKING 

PARK 

F2 

SITE PLAN  
OPTION 1 1 SITE PLAN  

OPTION 2 2 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

3. Recreation Center 

Development 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

OPTION 1 

BUILDING DEVELOPMENT OPTIONS 

ALL MULTI-PURPOSE AND/OR CIVIC FUNCTIONS 
TO BE LOCATED AT WALD PARK 

 

NO FUNCTIONS LOCATED OFF-SITE 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER SITE PLANS 
OPTION 1 1 MAIN FLOOR LEVEL – POOL ELEVATION 

PROGRAM COMPONENTS 

- 3 BASKETBALL/MULTI-USE 

COURTS 

- POOL SUPPORT 

- ADMINISTRATIVE SPACE 

- CIVIC / COMMUNITY SPACES 

 

 

TOTAL SF – 60,000 SF +/- 

 

 

 

ALL 

MULTI-PURPOSE 

AND 

CIVIC FUNCTIONS 

TO BE LOCATED AT 

WALD PARK 

 

NO FUNCTIONS 

LOCATED OFF-SITE 

EXPANDED 

POOL 

BASKETBALL 

BASKETBALL 

PARKING 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER PLANS 
OPTION 1 - MAIN FLOOR LEVEL – POOL ELEVATION 1 

EXPANDED 

POOL 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULTI-USE 

BELOW 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULTI-USE 

BELOW 

RUNNING TRACK ABOVE 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULTI-USE 

IMPROVED 

POOL DECK 

COVERED AREA 

POOL 

LOCKERROOMS 

& CONCESSION 

LOCKERROOMS 

FITNESS & ACTIVITY ROOMS 

ENTRY 

LOBBY 

GRAND 

STAIR TO 

BELOW 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER PLANS 
OPTION 1 - LOWER FLOOR LEVEL - EXCHANGE FIELD ELEVATION 

 
1 

LOWER FLOOR LEVEL 
EXCHANGE FIELD ELEVATION 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULTI-USE 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULTI-USE 

 

BLEACHERS 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULTI-USE 

B
L
E

A
C

H
E

R
S

 

B
L
E

A
C

H
E

R
S

 

GRAND 

STAIR TO 

BELOW 

LOCKERROOMS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER PLANS 
OPTION 1 - UPPER FLOOR LEVEL 1 

EVENT SPACE 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER PLANS 
 1 

LEVEL 1 – POOL LEVEL LEVEL G – BASKETBALL LEVEL LEVEL 2 – EVENT SPACE 

SPACE PROGRAM COMPONENTS 

 

- 3 BASKETBALL/MULTI-USE COURTS 

- POOL SUPPORT 

- ADMINISTRATIVE SPACE 

- CIVIC SPACES 

 

 

TOTAL SF – 60,000 SF +/- 
 

 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER VIEWS 
OPTION 1   1 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

EXISTING VIEW – FROM HIGHWAY 31 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER VIEWS 
OPTION 1   1 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER VIEWS 
OPTION 1   1 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER VIEWS 
OPTION 1  1 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER VIEWS 
OPTION 1   1 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER VIEWS 
OPTION 1   1 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER VIEWS 
OPTION 1 1 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER VIEWS 
OPTION 1 1 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER VIEWS 
OPTION 1 1 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

OPTION 2 

BUILDING DEVELOPMENT OPTIONS 

MULTI-PURPOSE AND/OR CIVIC FUNCTIONS 

TO BE LOCATED PARTIALLY AT WALD PARK 

AND PARTIALLY OFF-SITE 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER SITE PLANS 
OPTION 2 2 MAIN FLOOR LEVEL – POOL ELEVATION 

SPACE PROGRAM 

COMPONENTS 

 

- 3 BASKETBALL/MULTI-USE 

COURTS 

- POOL SUPPORT  

- ADMINISTRATIVE SPACE 

 

 

TOTAL SF – 53,000 SF +/- 

 

 

ALL 

MULTI-PURPOSE 

AND 

CIVIC FUNCTIONS 

TO BE PARTIALLY 

LOCATED AT 

WALD PARK 

AND PARTIALLY 

OFF-SITE 
 

EXPANDED 

POOL 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULTI-USE 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULIT-USE 

PARKING 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER PLANS 
 2 

LEVEL 1 – POOL LEVEL LEVEL G – BASKETBALL LEVEL 

SPACE PROGRAM COMPONENTS 

 

- 3 BASKETBALL/MULTI-USE COURTS 

- POOL SUPPORT 

- ADMINISTRATIVE SPACE 

 

 

TOTAL SF – 53,000 SF +/- 
 

 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

OPTION 3 

BUILDING DEVELOPMENT OPTIONS 

ALL MULTI-PURPOSE AND/OR CIVIC FUNCTIONS 
TO BE LOCATED OFF-SITE 

 

NONE LOCATED AT WALD PARK 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER  
OPTION 3 3 

MAIN FLOOR LEVEL – POOL ELEVATION 

SPACE PROGRAM 

COMPONENTS 

 

- 3 BASKETBALL/MULTI-USE 

COURTS 

- POOL SUPPORT 

- ADMINISTRATIVE SPACE 

 

 

TOTAL SF – 45,000 SF +/- 

 

 

ALL 

MULTI-PURPOSE 

AND 

CIVIC FUNCTIONS 

TO BE LOCATED 

OFF-SITE 

 

NONE AT WALD PARK 

 
 

EXPANDED 

POOL 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULTI-USE 

BASKETBALL/ 

MULTI-USE 

PARKING 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

MULTI-PURPOSE CENTER PLANS 
 3 

LEVEL 1 – POOL LEVEL LEVEL G – BASKETBALL LEVEL 

SPACE PROGRAM COMPONENTS 

 

- 3 BASKETBALL/MULTI-USE COURTS 

- POOL SUPPORT 

- ADMINISTRATIVE SPACE 

 

 

TOTAL SF – 45,000 SF +/- 
 

 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

4. Community Center 

Development 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

E GOLD’S GYM PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 
EXISTING SITE PLAN 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

GOLD’S GYM 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

COMMUNITY 

CENTER 

HEART OF THE CITY – CITY HALL / MUNICIPAL / COMMUNITY CENTER 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

EXISTING PHOTOS 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

OFFICE 
AREA 

WOMEN’S LOCKER 
ROOM 

MEN’S LOCKER 
ROOM 

POOL AREA BASKETBALL 
COURT 

MULTIPURPOSE 
AND SUPPORT 

ROOMS 

FITNESS ROOM 

LOBBY/ SHARED 
AREA 

GOLD’S GYM - EXISTING 
1ST FLOOR E 

R
A

C
Q

U
ET

B
A

LL
 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

OFFICE 
AREA 

POOL AREA 
OPEN TO BELOW 

BASKETBALL  
OPEN TO BELOW 

MULTIPURPOSE 
ROOM 

MULTIPURPOSE 
SPACE OPEN 

MULTIPURPOSE 
FITNESS AREA 

OPEN TO BELOW 

GOLD’S GYM - EXISTING 
2ND FLOOR E 

R
A

C
Q

U
ET

B
A

LL
 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

OFFICE 
AREA 

WOMEN’S LOCKER 
ROOM 

MEN’S LOCKER 
ROOM 

MEDIUM 
EVENT SPACE 

MULTIPURPOSE 
ROOMS 

LARGE EVENT 
SPACE 

LOBBY/ SHARED 
AREA 

GOLD’S GYM – OPTION 1 
1ST FLOOR 1 

1ST FLOOR 

EVENT SPACE, PREFUNCTION AREA, 

ADMIN, OFFICES 

 

2ND FLOOR 

AVAILABLE 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

GOLD’S GYM – OPTION 1 
2ND FLOOR 1 

OFFICE 
4,500 SF 

1ST FLOOR 

EVENT SPACE, PREFUNCTION AREA, 

ADMIN, OFFICES 

 

2ND FLOOR 

AVAILABLE 

OPEN TO BELOW 

OPEN TO BELOW 
OPEN TO BELOW 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

OFFICE 
AREA 

WOMEN’S LOCKER 
ROOM 

MEN’S LOCKER 
ROOM 

PRACTICE COURT/ 
WRESTLING 

BALLET/DANCE 

FITNESS ROOM 

FITNESS AREA 

LOBBY/ SHARED 
AREA 

GOLD’S GYM – OPTION 2 
1ST FLOOR 2 

R
A

C
Q

U
ET

B
A

LL
 

1ST FLOOR 

FITNESS/WORKOUT, PRACTICE COURT, 

BALLET/DANCE, LOCKER ROOMS, ADMIN 

 

2ND FLOOR 

EVENT SPACES, ACTIVITY ROOMS, 

PREFUNCTION AREAS 

LOBBY 
AREA 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

GOLD’S GYM – OPTION 2 
2ND FLOOR 2 

OFFICE 
4,500 SF 

SMALL CIVIC 
 SPACE 

1,000 SF  PRE-FUNCTION 
SPACE 

2,700 SF 

MEDIUM CIVIC 
 SPACE 

4,500 SF 

LARGE CIVIC 
 SPACE 

7,000 SF 

SHARED  
LOBBY 

1ST FLOOR 

FITNESS/WORKOUT, PRACTICE COURT, 

BALLET/DANCE, LOCKER ROOMS, ADMIN 

 

2ND FLOOR 

EVENT SPACES, ACTIVITY ROOMS, 

PREFUNCTION AREAS 

OPEN TO BELOW 

OPEN TO BELOW 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

HEART OF THE CITY – CITY HALL / MUNICIPAL / COMMUNITY CENTER 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

HEART OF THE CITY – CITY HALL / MUNICIPAL / COMMUNITY CENTER 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

HEART OF THE CITY – CITY HALL / MUNICIPAL / COMMUNITY CENTER 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

HEART OF THE CITY – POTENTIAL FUTURE CONNECTION – WALD PARK / COMMUNITY CENTER / CITY HALL 

WALD PARK 

CITY HALL & 
COMMUNITY 
CENTER 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

5. Preliminary Budget 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

 Design team developed a rough order of magnitude budget 

for each City location. 

 

 Budgets are based on experience with similar projects, 

assumptions regarding the scope of work and industry input. 

 

 Budget includes the hard and soft cost of construction 
 Hard costs were estimated on a per unit basis 

 Soft costs (A/E fees, owner's contingency, project mgmt, insurance, 

FF&E, etc.) were estimated as a percentage of total hard costs 
 

 

 All figures are in 2016 dollars and do not account for 

escalation 

 

 This is not a detailed cost estimating exercise as detailed 

design work has not been completed 

PREL IMINARY BUDGET –  SUMMARY 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PREL IMINARY BUDGET –  SUMMARY 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

SURVEY 

AND 

QUESTIONS 

 
 

Here is the link for you to join: 

 

http://www.otmeet.com/256 
 
 

Thank you for participating! 

http://www.otmeet.com/256


COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

END 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

6. Appendix 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PARKING ANALYSIS 

EXHIBIT A 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PARKING SCENARIO 

PROPOSED PARKING 

- OPTION 1 TOTAL =  680 

- OPTION 2 TOTAL =  674 

EXISTING PARKING 

- WALD PARK =   247 

- ELEMENTARY SCHOOL, = 236 

    CIVIC CENTER, BOE 

EXISTINGTOTAL =   483 SPACES 



COMMUNITY SPACES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN                                                                                                                                                                                                               NOVEMBER 2016 

PARKING SCENARIO - PROPOSED 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS  
 

PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 
 

 

AGREEMENT AND GENERAL CONDITIONS 

BETWEEN OWNER AND OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE 

 

 
 

 

TABLE OF ARTICLES 

 

1. AGREEMENT 

2. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

3. OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE’S BASIC SCOPE OF SERVICES 

4. OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

5. PARTIES’ REPRESENTATIVES 

6. CONTRACT DURATION 

7. COMPENSATION 

8. AMENDMENTS TO THE OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE SERVICES 

9. INSURANCE 

10. TERMINATION OF THE AGREEMENT AND OWNER’S                                                         

RIGHT TO PERFORM OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVES SERVICES   

11. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

12. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

13. OTHER CONDITIONS 

 

 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

 2 

 

 
 

 
 

ARTICLE 1 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

 

This Agreement is made this    day of              in the year     2017, by and between the  

                        

 

 

 

 

OWNER:     CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 

(Name and Address) 1032 MONTGOMERY HIGHWAY  

 VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA  35216    

        

      ATTENTION:  City Manager JEFF DOWNES 

     

and the 

 

OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE:  TCU CONSULTING SERVICES, LLC 

(Name and Address)               P.O. BOX 230487 

      MONTGOMERY, ALABAMA 36123 

 

For services in connection with the following          

PROGRAM:      

VESTAVIA HILLS COMMUNITY SPACES PLAN 

(See Exhibit “A”, dated November 2016.)  

       

 

 
 

 

Notice to the parties shall be given at the above addresses. 
 

PROGRAM MANAGEMENT OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE AGREEMENT AND 

GENERAL CONDITIONS BETWEEN OWNER AND OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

3 
 

ARTICLE 2 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

2.1 The Owner retains the Owner’s Representative to consult with and assist the Owner in 

developing and implementing the Owner’s Program as defined in this Agreement. The Owner’s 

Representative shall be the Owner’s agent, shall exercise its skill and judgment in furnishing 

Owner’s Representative services and shall not in any respect serve as a Construction 

Manager, General Contractor or Sub-contractor. 

 

2.2 TEAM RELATIONSHIP The Owner and the Owner’s Representative agree to proceed 

with the Program on the basis of trust, good faith and fair dealing, and shall take all actions 

reasonably necessary to perform this Agreement in an economical and timely manner. 

 

2.3 EXTENT OF AGREEMENT This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties, 

represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties, and supersedes all prior 

negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral. In the event of a conflict 

between this Agreement and any other contract entered into by the Owner in connection with the 

Program as between the Owner and the Owner’s Representative, this Agreement and Exhibits 

hereto shall govern. 

 

2.4 DEFINITIONS   

 

2.4.1 The Owner’s Representative Documents consist of: 

.1 written amendments to this Agreement signed by both                                                 

     the Owner and Owner’s Representative; 

.2 this Agreement; and 

.3 the Owner’s Program provided in Subparagraph 2.4.4. 

.4 Exhibit “A” City of Vestavia Hills Community Spaces Plan, dated November, 2016 

.5 Exhibit “B” City of Vestavia Hills Community Spaces Plan Implementation Request for 

Proposal, dated March 1, 2017 

.6 Exhibit “C” TCU Consulting Services Response to City of Vestavia Hills Community 

Spaces Plan Implementation RFP, dated March 31, 2017 

 

2.4.2 The services to be provided by the Owner’s Representative are the Basic Services as set 

forth in Article 3 of this Agreement. 

 

2.4.3 The term Day shall mean calendar day. 

 

2.4.4 The Owner’s Program is a description of the Owner’s objectives, including budgetary and 

time criteria, space requirements and relationships, flexibility and expandability requirements, 

special equipment and systems, and site requirements.  The Program description is provided in 

Article 1, above.  

 

2.4.5 A Hazardous Material is any substance or material identified now or in the future as 

hazardous under any   federal, state or local law or regulation, or any other   substance or 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

4 
 

material which may be considered hazardous or otherwise subject to statutory or regulatory 

requirements governing handling, disposal and/or clean-up.                    

 

ARTICLE 3 

 

OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE’S BASIC SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

The Owner’s Representative shall provide the services indicated in Paragraph 3.2 as the Owner’s 

Representative’s responsibility in the Basic Scope of Services during the Phases described 

below. These services may be provided in one or more of the phases of the Owner’s program or 

in one or more phases of a discrete project within the overall program.  The duration of the 

phases will be used as the basis of compensation of the Owner’s Representative as described in 

Article 7. Portions of each of the Phases of Service may commence before the previous phase is 

completed, in which case both phases may proceed concurrently. 

 

3.1 The three Phases of Service are defined as follows: 

 

3.1.1 PHASE ONE Program Budget Validation and Execution Strategy as required by Exhibit 

B, dated March 1, 2017.  Upon completion of Phase I Services written authorization by the 

Owner is required before the Owner’s Representative can proceed to the next phase of Service. 

 

3.1.2 PHASE TWO Preconstruction Phase as required by Exhibit B, dated March 1, 2017.  

Upon completion of Phase II Services written authorization by the Owner is required before the 

Owner’s Representative can proceed to the next phase of Service. 

 

3.1.3 PHASE THREE Construction Phase as required by Exhibit B, dated March 1, 2017.   

 

3.2 DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES RENDERED UNDER BASIC SCOPE OF SERVICES 

A description of basic services to be rendered by Owner's Representative under this Agreement 

is contained in Exhibit “B”. 

 

3.3 MANAGEMENT INFORMATION SYSTEMS Ownership of management information 

systems developed by the Owner’s Representative in the performance of this agreement remains 

the property of the Owner’s Representative. 

 

3.4 OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE’S SERVICES The Owner’s Representative shall 

perform its Services in accordance with the standard of care normally practiced by Owner’s 

Representative firms in performing services of a similar nature at the time and place the 

Services are performed.  

 

ARTICLE 4 

 

OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

4.1 INFORMATION PROVIDED BY OWNER 

 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

5 
 

4.1.1 The Owner shall provide full information in a timely manner regarding requirements for 

the Project, including the Owner’s Program requirements and other relevant information 

necessary for the Owner’s Representative to provide its services. 

 

4.1.2 The Owner shall provide reasonable evidence satisfactory to the Owner’s Representative, 

prior to commencing the Owner’s Representative Services and during the progress of the 

Owner’s Representative Services, that sufficient funds are available and committed for Owner’s 

Representative Services as may be approved in the course of this Agreement.  Unless such 

reasonable evidence is provided, the Owner’s Representative shall not be required to commence 

or continue the Owner’s Representative Services.  The Owner’s Representative may stop 

Owner’s Representative Services after thirty (30) days’ written notice to the Owner if such 

evidence is not presented within a reasonable time.  The failure of the Owner’s Representative to 

insist upon the providing of this evidence at any one time shall not be a waiver of the Owner’s 

obligation to make payments pursuant to this Agreement, nor shall it be a waiver of the Owner’s 

Representative’s right to request or insist that such evidence be provided at a later date. 

 

4.1.3 The Owner’s Representative shall be entitled to rely on the completeness and accuracy of 

the information required by this Paragraph 4.1. After reasonable evidence of financial 

arrangements has been furnished, the Owner shall not materially vary such financial 

arrangements without prior notice to the Owner’s Representative. 

 

4.2 OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES DURING PHASES OF SERVICE 

 

4.2.1 The Owner shall contract directly with other firms for the provision of design, supervision, 

construction, other related services, and work and goods required to be implemented by the 

Program as described in Exhibit “B”.   

 

4.2.1.1   All contracts let by or on behalf of the Owner in connection with the Program shall 

contain a provision providing that the other party to the contract agree to defend, indemnify and 

hold the Owner’s Representative harmless from all claims for bodily injury and property damage 

to the extent of the negligence attributed to such acts or omissions by the other party to the 

contract or anyone employed directly or indirectly by them or anyone for whose acts they may be 

liable.  In addition, all such contracts shall contain a provision requiring the other party to 

include the Owner’s Representative as an additional named insured party, primary and 

noncontributory, on their insurance policies for the project.  Finally, all such contracts and any 

subcontracts thereunder shall include the Owner’s Representative expressly as a beneficiary of 

any “No damage for Delay Clause” or other clause limiting the liability of the Owner for 

economic losses suffered by a contractor or subcontractor. 

 

4.2.1.2 Other than as set forth on Exhibit “B”, the Owner’s Representative shall not be 

responsible for, nor liable to the Owner for any damages arising out of, the failure of other 

persons providing services, work or goods to the Owner to carry out the performance, of their 

contracts with the Owner. 

 

4.2.1.3 The Owner shall direct that communications with the Owner’s direct contractors shall be 

through the Owner’s Representative as Owner's Representative. 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

6 
 

 

4.2.2 If the Owner becomes aware of any error, omission or failure of the Owner’s 

Representative to meet the requirements of this Agreement the Owner shall give prompt written 

notice to the Owner’s Representative. 

 

ARTICLE 5 

 

PARTIES’ REPRESENTATIVES 

 

5.1 The Owner and the Owner’s Representative agree that the success of their contractual 

relationship will depend in large part on the individuals designated to represent the Owner and 

the Owner’s Representative for the purposes of this Agreement.  In order to further the team 

relationship contemplated by this Agreement, the Owner and the Owner’s Representative agree 

that their respective individual representatives will be mutually agreeable and that these 

representatives will not be changed except upon written consent, which will not be unreasonably 

withheld.  The Owner and Owner’s Representative shall each designate, in writing, two 

individuals, one as their primary representative and the second as an alternate to act in the 

absence of the primary representative.  The primary representative and the alternate shall each 

have the authority to bind the respective parties in all matters requiring the parties' approval, 

authorization or written noticeto the extent permitted by law. 

 

5.2 OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE’S REPRESENTATIVE The Owner’s Representative’s 

representatives shall be fully acquainted with the Owner’s Representative’s Scope of Services. 

The individuals identified on Exhibit “C” shall not be changed without the written consent of the 

Owner, which will not be unreasonably withheld, and each individual will meet or exceed the 

necessary hours worked as set forth in Exhibit “C” as necessary to complete the terms of this 

Agreement. 

 

5.3 OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVES The Owner’s representatives shall be fully acquainted 

with the Owner’s Program. 

 

5.4 The primary representatives shall communicate with each other as often as needed during the 

term of this Agreement and, at a minimum, shall confer either personally or by telephone at least 

weekly. 

 

ARTICLE 6 

 

CONTRACT DURATION 

 

6.1 COMMENCEMENT OF THE OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE SERVICES The 

Owner’s Representative Services shall commence on or about (DATE) upon written directive 

from Owner to Owner’s Representative. 

 

6.2 DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROGRAM SCHEDULE The Owner’s Representative, 

based upon information provided in the Owner’s Program, shall submit an initial Program 

Schedule and Management Plan to the Owner for review on or before (DATE). 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

7 
 

 

6.3 AMENDMENTS TO THE PROGRAM SCHEDULE The Owner’s Representative 

Services shall proceed in general accordance with the approved Program Schedule as such 

schedule may be amended from time to time, subject to Subparagraph 4.1.2.  In the event delays 

to the implementation of Owner’s Program are encountered for any reason, the parties agree to 

undertake reasonable steps to manage and mitigate the effect of such delays.  If causes beyond 

the Owner’s Representative’s reasonable control delay, extend or change the time for 

performance of the Owner’s Representative Services, the compensation for Owner’s 

Representative’s Service and the Schedule may be equitably adjusted.      

 

ARTICLE 7 

 

COMPENSATION 

 

7.1 COMPENSATION Upon execution of this Agreement, payments will be made as set forth 

in Article 13.1.   

 

7.2 The Owner’s Representative’s shall be compensated for the services described in the Exhibit 

“B” and as set forth in Article 13.1. 

 

7.3 ADJUSTMENT IN THE OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE’S FEE   

 

In addition to causes for fee adjustment noted, the Owner’s Representative’s Fee may be 

adjusted as follows: 

  

.1 For delays in the Owner’s Representative Services not caused by the Owner’s 

Representative, there may be an equitable adjustment in the Owner’s Representative’s 

Fee to compensate the Owner’s Representative for increased expenses; and 

 

.2 If the Owner’s Representative is placed in charge of managing the replacement of an 

insured or uninsured loss, the Owner’s Representative shall be paid an additional fee in 

the same proportion that the Owner’s Representative’s Fee bears to the estimated cost 

of the Owner’s Representative Services. 

 

7.4 PAYMENTS Payments for Owner’s Representative Services shall be due and payable 

within ten (10) days following presentation of the Owner’s Representative’s monthly invoice to 

the Owner.  If the Owner fails to pay the Owner’s Representative as agreed, then the Owner’s 

Representative shall have the right to stop the services.  Payments due but unpaid shall bear 

interest at the rate of 2% per annum.  

 

ARTICLE 8 

 

AMENDMENTS TO THE OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE SERVICES 

 

8.1 AMENDMENTS Amendments to the Owner’s Representative Services which are within the 

general scope of this Agreement may be accomplished by written amendment between the 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

8 
 

parties including adjustments in Compensation, Fee and Cost of Owner’s Representative 

Services as applicable. 

 

8.2 NO OBLIGATION TO PERFORM The Owner’s Representative shall not be obligated to 

perform additional Owner’s Representative Services until a written amendment has been 

executed by the Owner and Owner’s Representative. 

 

ARTICLE 9 

 

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 

 

9.1 LIABILITY INSURANCE Each party shall be responsible for obtaining and maintaining 

its own liability insurance for claims arising out of the performance of this agreement.  Owners 

Representative shall obtain and provide proof of general liability and errors and omissions 

coverage in the amount of $2,000,000 each on or before (DATE). 

 

ARTICLE 10 

 

TERMINATION OF THE AGREEMENT AND OWNER’S RIGHT TO PERFORM 

OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE’S SERVICES 

 

 

10.1 TERMINATION BY THE OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE 

 

10.1.1 Upon Thirty (30) days’ written notice to the Owner, the Owner’s Representative may 

terminate this Agreement for any of the following reasons: 

 

 .1 If the Services have been stopped for a thirty (30) day period 

a. Under court order or order of other governmental authorities having 

jurisdiction. 

b. As a result of the declaration of a national emergency or other governmental 

act; or 

c. Because of the Owner’s failure to pay the Owner’s Representative in 

accordance with this Agreement; 

 

.2 If the Services are suspended by the Owner for sixty (60) days; 

 

.3 If the Owner materially delays the Owner’s Representative in the performance of the 

Owner’s Representative Services; 

 

.4 If the Owner otherwise materially breaches this Agreement; or 

 

.5 If the Owner fails to furnish reasonable evidence that sufficient funds are available and 

committed for the entire cost of the Project in accordance with Subparagraph 4.1.2 of 

this Agreement. 

 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

9 
 

10.1.2 Upon termination by the Owner’s Representative in accordance with Subparagraph 

10.1.1, the Owner’s Representative shall be entitled to recover from the Owner payment for all 

Owner’s Representative Services performed prior to termination, plus reasonable demobilization 

costs.   

 

10.2 OWNER’S RIGHT TO PERFORM OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE’S 

OBLIGATIONS AND TERMINATION BY THE OWNER FOR CAUSE 

  

10.2.1 If the Owner’s Representative fails to perform any of its material obligations under this 

Agreement, the Owner may, after thirty (30) days’ written notice, during which period the 

Owner’s Representative fails to perform such obligation, undertake to perform such obligations. 

 

10.2.2 Upon thirty (30) days’ written notice to the Owner’s Representative, the Owner may 

terminate this Agreement for any of the following reasons: 

 

.1 If in the reasonable opinion of the Owner, the Owner’s Representative fails to perform 

to the satisfaction of the owner; 

 

.2 If the Owner’s Representative has received payment from the Owner but does not 

make proper payment to its consultants and service providers; 

 

.3 If the Owner’s Representative fails to abide by the orders, regulations, rules, 

ordinances or laws of governmental authorities having jurisdiction; or 

 

.4 If the Owner’s Representative otherwise materially breaches this Agreement. 

 

10.2.3  If the Owner’s Representative files a petition under the Bankruptcy Code, this Agreement 

shall terminate if the Owner’s Representative or the Owner’s Representative’s trustee rejects the 

Agreement or, if there has been a default and the Owner’s Representative is unable to give 

adequate assurance that the Owner’s Representative will perform as required by this Agreement 

or otherwise is unable to comply with the requirements for assuming this Agreement under the 

applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. 

 

10.2.4 In the event the Owner exercises its rights under Subparagraph 10.2.1, 10.2.2, or 10.2.3, 

upon the request of the Owner’s Representative, the Owner shall provide a detailed accounting 

of the cost incurred by the Owner. 

 

10.3 TERMINATION BY OWNER WITHOUT CAUSE If the Owner terminates this 

Agreement other than as set forth in Paragraph 10.2, the Owner shall pay the Owner’s 

Representative for all Owner’s Representative Services executed to date and reasonable 

demobilization costs. 

 

10.4 SUSPENSION BY THE OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE 

 

10.4.1 The Owner may order the Owner’s Representative in writing to suspend, delay or 

interrupt all or any part of the Owner’s Representative Services without cause for such period of 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

10 
 

time, not to exceed thirty (30) days, as the Owner may determine to be appropriate for its 

convenience. 

 

10.4.2 Adjustments caused by suspension, delay or interruption may be made for increases or 

decreases in the Owner’s Representative’s Compensation and schedule adjustments as necessary.  

No adjustment shall be made if another provision of this Agreement is applied to render an 

equitable adjustment. 

 

ARTICLE 11 

 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

 

11.1 INITIAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION If a dispute arises out of or relates to this Agreement 

or its breach, the parties shall direct their Representatives to endeavor to settle the dispute first 

through direct discussions.  If the dispute cannot be resolved through direct discussions, the 

parties shall participate in mediation under the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the 

American Arbitration Association then in effect unless the parties mutually agree otherwise 

before recourse to arbitration.  The representatives designated pursuant to Paragraph 5.1 shall 

attend all mediation sessions.  The location of the mediation shall be Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  

Once one party files a request for mediation with the other contracting party and with the 

American Arbitration Association, the parties agree to commence such mediation within sixty 

(60) days of filing of the request.  Either party may terminate the mediation at any time after the 

first session, but the decision to terminate must be delivered in person by the party representative 

to the other party’s representative and the mediator.  Engaging in mediation is a condition 

precedent to arbitration. 

 

11.2 AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to 

this agreement or its breach not resolved by mediation, except for claims which have been 

waived by the making or acceptance of final payment, shall be decided by arbitration in 

accordance with the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration 

Association then in effect unless the parties mutually agree otherwise.  Notwithstanding 

Paragraph 13.2, this agreement to arbitrate shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act.  The 

Arbitration hearings shall take place in Vestavia Hills, Alabama on consecutive workdays.  

Unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, the hearings shall conclude within two months of 

the first hearing date. 

 

11.3 NOTICE OF DEMAND A written demand for arbitration shall be filed with the American 

Arbitration Association and the other party to this Agreement within a reasonable time after the 

dispute or claim has arisen, but in no event after the applicable statute of limitations for a legal or 

equitable proceeding would have run. 

 

11.4 AWARD The arbitration award shall be final.  Judgment upon the award may be confirmed 

in any court having jurisdiction. 

 

11.5 SERVICE CONTINUANCE AND PAYMENT Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the 

Owner’s Representative shall continue the Owner’s Representative Services and maintain the 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

11 
 

approved schedules during any mediation or arbitration proceedings.  If the Owner’s 

Representative continues to perform, the Owner shall continue to make payments in accordance 

with this Agreement. 

 

11.6 COST OF DISPUTE RESOLUTION The cost of any mediation proceeding shall be 

shared equally by the parties participating.  The prevailing party in any dispute arising out of or 

relating to this Agreement or its breach that is resolved by arbitration or litigation shall be 

entitled to recover from the other party reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and expenses incurred 

by the prevailing party in connection with such arbitration or litigation. 

 

ARTICLE 12 

 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

12.1 ASSIGNMENT Neither the Owner nor the Owner’s Representative shall assign their 

interest in this Agreement without the written consent of the other except as to the assignment of 

proceeds. 

 

12.2 GOVERNING LAW This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the State of 

Alabama.  

 

12.3 SEVERABILITY The partial or complete invalidity of any one or more provisions of this 

Agreement shall not affect the validity or continuing force and effect of any other provision. 

 

 

12.4   NO WAIVER OF PERFORMANCE   The failure of either party to insist, in any one or 

more instances, on the performance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this 

Agreement, or to exercise any of its rights, shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment 

of such term, covenant, condition or right with respect to further performance. 

 

12.5 TITLES The title given to the Articles of this Agreement are for ease of reference only and 

shall not be relied upon or cited for any other purpose. 

 

ARTICLE 13 

 

OTHER CONDITIONS 

 

13.1 OTHER PROVISIONS 

 

The Compensation for the Owner Representative Basic Scope of Services as listed in Exhibit 

“B” to this Agreement shall be a fixed, stipulated sum amount of: 

 

Phase I Services  $   120,000.00 

Phase II Services  $   373,650.00 

Phase III Services:   $1,002,000.00 

Total    $1,495,650.00 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

12 
 

as listed in Exhibit “C”, dated March 31, 2017. 

 

It is anticipated that there may be a period of time between the completion of the Owner’s 

Representative work on a particular Phase of Services and the Owner’s written decision on 

whether to proceed to the next Phase of Service or to terminate the contract.  If the Owner 

terminates the Contract it shall do so in accordance with Article 10.3 of the Agreement. 

 

If the period of time between the completion of the Owner’s Representatives work on a 

particular Phase of Service and the Owner’s written decision exceeds thirty (30) days the Owner 

should act in accordance with Article 10.4 of the Agreement. 

 

For delays in the Owner’s Representative Services that exceed thirty (30) days and are not 

caused by the Owner’s Representative, the Owner’s representative reserves the right to request 

an equitable adjustment in the Owner’s Representative’s Fee to compensate the Owner’s 

Representative for increased expenses. 

 

By signing this contract, the contracting parties affirm, for the duration of the agreement, that 

they will not violate federal immigration law or knowingly employ, hire for employment, or 

continue to employ an unauthorized alien within the State of Alabama.  Furthermore, a 

contracting party found to be in violation of this provision shall be deemed in breach of the 

agreement and shall be responsible for all damages resulting therefrom. 

 

By signing this agreement, TCU Consulting Services, LLC represents that it is not currently 

engaged in, nor will it engage in, the boycott of a person or an entity based in or doing business 

with a jurisdiction with which Alabama can enjoy open trade. 

  

 

This Agreement is entered into as of the date entered in Article 1. 

 

 

OWNER:_______CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS___________ 

 

 

ATTEST:___________________________________________       

 

 

BY:___________________________________________________ 

 

  

PRINT NAME:__Mayor Ashley Curry__________________________ 

 

PRINT TITLE:__Mayor____________________________ 

 

 

 

 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

13 
 

ATTEST: 

 

BY:___________________________________________________ 

 

PRINT NAME: City Manager Jeffrey Downes 

 

PRINT TITLE:  City Manager 

 

(Note: In Manager-Council Act, any contract requires Mayor and City Manager signature if the 

contract in greater than one year in duration) 

 

 

 

OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE:__TCU CONSULTING SERVICES, LLC__ 

 

 

ATTEST:______________________________________________ 

 

 

BY:___________________________________________________ 

 

 

PRINT NAME:____W. Ken Upchurch, III____________________ 

 

 

PRINT TITLE:_____Managing Partner_______________________ 

 

 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

14 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

City of Vestavia Hills Community Spaces Plan, dated November 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

15 
 

EXHIBIT B 

 

City of Vestavia Hills Community Spaces Plan Implementation Request for Proposal, dated 

March 1, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Resolution 4951 

Exhibit B 

16 
 

EXHIBIT C 

 

TCU Consulting Services Response to City of Vestavia Hills Community Spaces Plan 

Implementation RFP, dated March 31, 2017 

 
 






























































































































	2017_0522CC_A
	2017_0508CC_M
	Ordinance 2707
	Ordinance 2709
	Ordinance 2710
	Ordinance 2708
	Ordinance 2708
	Ordinance 2708 Exihibit 1A BOE- City Agreement Clean Copy 5.19.17
	Exhibit A-City.BOE Agreement-05.03.17
	Exhibit B-City.BOE Agreement-05.03.17
	Exhibit C-City.BOE Agreement-05.03.17
	Exhibit D-City.BOE Agreement-05.03.17REVISED
	Exhibit E-City.BOE Agreement-05.03.17
	Exhibit F-City.BOE Agreement-05.03.17
	Exhibit G-City.BOE Agreement-05.03.17
	Exhibit H-City.BOE Agreement-05.03.17
	Exhibit I-City.BOE Agreement-05.15.17
	Exhibit J-City.BOE Agreement-05.03.17
	Exhibit K-City.BOE Agreement-05.15.17

	Resolution 4950
	Resolution 4951
	Resolution 4951
	Resolution 4951 Legal Opinion on Contract with TCU
	Resolution 4951 Request for Proposals for Capital Projects Management Services
	Resolution 4951 Exhibit A
	Resolution 4951 Exhibit B Vestavia Program Management FINAL - Clean Version 20170503 clauses added 20170505
	Resolution 4951 Exhibit C

	P-0417-15_Final_Packet.pdf
	P-0417-15
	Date:     APRIL 13, 2017

	App




